UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

(Amendment No.)

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant \Box

Filed by the Registrant \boxtimes

Che	ck the appropriate box:				
	Preliminary Proxy Statement				
	Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))				
\times	Definitive Proxy Statement				
	Definitive Additional Materials				
	Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12				
	INTELLIA THERAPEUTICS, INC. (Name of registrant as specified in its charter) (Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)				
Payı	ment of Filing Fee (Check all boxes that apply):				
\boxtimes	No fee required				
	Fee paid previously with preliminary materials				
	Fee computed on table in exhibit required by Item 25(b) per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11				



INTELLIA THERAPEUTICS, INC. 40 Erie Street Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139

NOTICE OF 2022 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS To be held June 14, 2022

You are invited to attend the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "Annual Meeting") of Intellia Therapeutics, Inc. (the "Company"), which will be held online on Tuesday, June 14, 2022 at 9:00 a.m. Eastern Time. You may attend the meeting virtually via the Internet at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/NTLA2022, where you will be able to vote electronically and submit questions. You will need the 16-digit control number included with the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials being mailed to you separately in order to attend the Annual Meeting.

Stockholders of record at the close of business on April 18, 2022, the record date for the Annual Meeting, are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the Annual Meeting or any adjournment or postponement of the Annual Meeting. The purpose of the Annual Meeting is the following:

- 1. Election of three class III directors to our board of directors, each to serve until the 2025 annual meeting of stockholders and until his or her successor has been duly elected and qualified, or until his or her earlier death, resignation or removal;
- 2. Ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022;
- 3. Approval, on a non-binding advisory basis, of the compensation of our named executive officers; and
- 4. Transaction of any other business properly brought before the Annual Meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

You can find more information on each of the matters to be voted on at the Annual Meeting, including information regarding the nominees for election to our board of directors, in the accompanying proxy statement. The board of directors recommends a vote:

- "FOR" the election of each of the three nominees for class III directors,
- "FOR" the ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022, and
- "FOR" the approval, on a non-binding advisory basis, of the compensation of our named executive officers, as disclosed in the accompanying
 proxy statement.

The Company is following the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission's "Notice and Access" rule that allows companies to furnish their proxy materials by posting them on the Internet. As a result, we are mailing to our stockholders a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (the "Notice") instead of a paper copy of the accompanying proxy statement and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 (the "2021 Annual Report"). We are mailing the Notice on or about May 2, 2022, and it contains instructions on how to access both the 2021 Annual Report and accompanying proxy statement (the "Proxy Materials") over the Internet. This method provides our stockholders with expedited access to Proxy Materials and not only lowers the cost of printing and distribution but also reduces the environmental impact of the Annual Meeting. If you would like to receive a paper copy of the Proxy Materials, free of charge, please follow the instructions on the Notice.

Whether or not you expect to attend the Annual Meeting online, we encourage you to read the accompanying proxy statement and vote your shares as promptly as possible to ensure your representation and the presence of a quorum at the Annual Meeting on the Internet as described in the instructions included in the Notice, by telephone by calling 1-800-690-6903 and following the recorded instructions or, if you requested and received a paper copy of the Proxy Materials, by signing, dating and returning the enclosed proxy card. If you vote your shares on the Internet or by telephone, you will need to enter the 16-digit control number provided in the Notice. Your vote is important regardless of the number of shares you own. If you attend the Annual Meeting online, you may vote your shares during the Annual Meeting virtually via the Internet even if you previously voted your proxy. Your proxy is revocable in accordance with the procedures set forth in the proxy statement.

If your shares are held in "street name," that is, held for your account by a broker or other nominee, you will receive instructions from the holder of record that you must follow for your shares to be voted.

By order of the Board of Directors,

/s/ John M. Leonard
John M. Leonard, M.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer

Cambridge, Massachusetts May 2, 2022

Table of Contents

	Page
PROXY STATEMENT FOR THE 2022 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS	1
IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING AND VOTING	2
PROPOSAL NO. 1 – ELECTION OF THREE CLASS III DIRECTORS	5
PROPOSAL NO. 2 – RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP AS INTELLIA'S INDEPENDENT	
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2022	15
PROPOSAL NO. 3 – ADVISORY VOTE ON NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICER COMPENSATION	17
TRANSACTION OF OTHER BUSINESS	18
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	19
COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS	27
EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND DIRECTOR COMPENSATION	37
REPORT OF THE COMPENSATION AND TALENT DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE	46
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS	47
PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS	49
DELINQUENT SECTION 16A REPORTS	51
REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE	52
HOUSEHOLDING	53
STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS	53



INTELLIA THERAPEUTICS, INC. 40 Erie Street Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139

857-285-6200

PROXY STATEMENT FOR THE 2022 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

to be held June 14, 2022

This proxy statement contains information about the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "Annual Meeting") of Intellia Therapeutics, Inc., which will be held online on Tuesday, June 14, 2022 at 9:00 a.m. Eastern Time. You may attend the Annual Meeting virtually via the Internet at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/NTLA2022, where you will be able to vote electronically and submit questions. The board of directors of Intellia Therapeutics, Inc. is using this proxy statement to solicit proxies for use at the Annual Meeting. In this proxy statement, unless expressly stated otherwise or the context otherwise requires, the use of "Intellia," "Company," "our," "we" or "us" refers to Intellia Therapeutics, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

All properly submitted proxies will be voted in accordance with the instructions contained in those proxies. If no instructions are specified, the proxies will be voted in accordance with the recommendation of our board of directors with respect to each of the matters set forth in the accompanying Notice of Meeting. You may revoke your proxy at any time before it is exercised at the meeting by giving our corporate secretary written notice to that effect or in any manner listed under "Revoking a Proxy; Changing Your Vote" below.

> Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be Held on June 14, 2022

We are mailing to our stockholders a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials on or about May 2, 2022.

This proxy statement and our 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K are available for viewing, printing and downloading at www.proxyvote.com.

A copy of our 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), except for exhibits, as well as this proxy statement, will be furnished without charge to any stockholder upon written request to our principal executive offices at Intellia Therapeutics, Inc., 40 Erie Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139, Attention: Investor Relations / Corporate Secretary, by calling 1-800-579-1639 or by emailing IRcontact@intelliatx.com. This proxy statement and our 2021 Annual Report are also available on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING AND VOTING

Purpose of the Annual Meeting

At the Annual Meeting, our stockholders of record as of April 18, 2022 will consider and vote on the following matters:

- 1. Election of three class III directors to our board of directors, each to serve until the 2025 annual meeting of stockholders and until his or her successor has been duly elected and qualified, or until his or her earlier death, resignation or removal;
- 2. Ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022;
- 3. Approval, on a non-binding advisory basis, of the compensation of our named executive officers; and
- 4. Transaction of any other business properly brought before the Annual Meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

As of the date of this proxy statement, we are not aware of any business to come before the Annual Meeting other than the first three items noted above.

Board of Directors Recommendation

Our board of directors unanimously recommends that you vote:

FOR the election of the three nominees to serve as the class III directors on our board of directors, each for a three-year term;

FOR the ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022; and

FOR the approval, on a non-binding advisory basis, of the compensation of our named executive officers.

Availability of Proxy Materials

We are mailing to our stockholders a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (the "Notice") instead of a paper copy of the accompanying proxy statement (the "Proxy Materials") and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 (the "2021 Annual Report") on or about May 2, 2022, and it contains instructions on how to access those documents over the Internet. You will need the 16-digit control number included on the Notice to access these materials. If you would like to receive a paper copy of the Proxy Materials, free of charge, you can do so upon written request to our principal executive offices at Intellia Therapeutics, Inc., 40 Erie Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139, Attention: Investor Relations / Corporate Secretary, by calling 1-800-579-1639 or by emailing sendmaterial@proxyvote.com. To try to ensure that you receive these materials in time to vote at the annual meeting of stockholders, please make your request to the Company prior to May 31, 2022. The Proxy Materials and our 2021 Annual Report are also available on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov.

Who Can Vote at the Annual Meeting

Only stockholders of record at the close of business on the record date of April 18, 2022 are entitled to receive notice of the Annual Meeting and to vote the shares of common stock of the Company that they held on that date. As of April 18, 2022, there were 75,628,492 shares of common stock issued and outstanding. Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote on each matter properly brought before the Annual Meeting.

Difference between a "stockholder of record" and a beneficial owner of shares held in "street name"

Stockholder of Record. If you own shares that are registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, Computershare Trust Company, N.A., then you are considered a "stockholder of record" of those shares. For these shares, the Notice has been sent to you directly by us. You may vote your shares by proxy prior to the Annual Meeting by following the instructions contained on the form of proxy card.

Beneficial Owners of Shares Held in Street Name. If you own shares that are held in a brokerage account or by a bank, trust or other nominee or custodian, then you are considered the beneficial owner of those shares, which are held in "street name." With respect to these shares, your Proxy Materials have been forwarded to you by that organization. The organization holding your account is considered the stockholder of record for purposes of voting at the Annual Meeting. As the beneficial owner, you have the right to instruct that organization as to how to vote the shares held in your account by following the instructions contained on the voting instruction card provided to you by that organization.

How to Vote

If you are a stockholder of record, there are several ways for you to vote your shares.

- *By Internet.* You may vote at *www.proxyvote.com*, 24 hours a day, seven days a week. You will need the 16-digit control number included on your Notice. Votes submitted through the Internet must be received by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time, on June 13, 2022.
- *By Telephone*. You may vote using a touch-tone telephone by calling 1-800-690-6903, 24 hours a day, seven days a week. You will need the 16-digit control number included on your Notice. Votes submitted by telephone must be received by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time, on June 13, 2022.
- *By Mail*. If you requested and received a paper copy of the Proxy Materials you may vote by mail by completing, signing and dating the enclosed proxy card and returning it in the enclosed prepaid envelope. Votes submitted through the mail must be received by June 13, 2022.
- During the Annual Meeting. You may vote during the Annual Meeting by going to www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/NTLA2022. You will need the 16-digit control number included on your Notice.

If the Annual Meeting is adjourned or postponed, the deadlines above may be extended.

The voting deadlines and availability of telephone and Internet voting for beneficial owners of shares held in "street name" will depend on the voting processes of the organization that holds your shares. Therefore, we urge you to carefully review and follow the voting instruction card and any other materials that you receive from that organization. If you hold your shares of Intellia common stock in multiple accounts, you should vote your shares as described in each set of Proxy Materials you receive.

If you submit a proxy without giving voting instructions, your shares will be voted in the manner recommended by the board of directors on all matters presented in this proxy statement, and as the persons named as proxies in the proxy card may determine in their discretion with respect to any other matters properly presented at the Annual Meeting. You may also authorize another person or persons to act for you as proxy in a writing, signed by you or your authorized representative, specifying the details of those proxies' authority. The original writing must be given to each of the named proxies, although it may be sent to them by electronic transmission if, from that transmission, it can be determined that the transmission was authorized by you.

Quorum

A quorum of stockholders is necessary to hold a valid meeting. Our second amended and restated by-laws provide that a quorum will exist if stockholders holding a majority of the shares of stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote are present at the meeting virtually via the Internet or by proxy. There were 75,628,492 shares of common stock outstanding and entitled to vote on April 18, 2022, our record date. Therefore, a quorum will be present if 37,814,247 shares of our common stock are present in person or represented by executed proxies timely received by us at the Annual Meeting. Under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "DGCL"), abstentions and broker non-votes count as present for establishing a quorum but will not be counted as votes cast. If a quorum is not present, the meeting may be adjourned until a quorum is obtained. Shares present virtually during the Annual Meeting will be considered shares of common stock represented in person at the meeting.

Ballot Measures Considered "Routine" and "Non-Routine"

The election of the class III directors ("Proposal No. 1") and the non-binding advisory approval of the compensation of our named executive officers ("Proposal No. 3") are considered non-routine matters under applicable rules. A broker or other nominee cannot vote without instructions on non-routine matters, and therefore there may be broker non-votes on Proposals No. 1 and 3.

The ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as Intellia's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022 ("Proposal No. 2") is a matter considered routine under applicable rules. A broker or other nominee may generally exercise discretionary authority and vote on routine matters. If all brokers exercise this discretionary authority, no broker non-votes are expected to exist in connection with Proposal No. 2.

Votes Required For the Matters to Be Voted on at the Annual Meeting

To be elected, each of the three directors nominated in Proposal No. 1 must receive a plurality of the votes cast and entitled to vote at the meeting, meaning that the three director nominees receiving the highest number of affirmative votes will be elected as directors. You may vote for all the director nominees, withhold authority to vote your shares for all the director nominees or withhold authority to vote your shares with respect to any one or more of the director nominees. Withholding authority to vote your shares with respect to one or more director nominees will have no effect on the election of those nominees. Broker non-votes are not considered votes cast and will have no effect on the election of the nominees.

The ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as Intellia's independent registered public accounting firm in Proposal No. 2 requires the affirmative vote of the majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote at the meeting and cast "for" or "against" such matter.

The approval, on a non-binding advisory basis, of the compensation of our named executive officers in Proposal No. 3 requires the affirmative vote of the majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting and cast "for" or "against" such matter. Because your vote is advisory, it will not be binding on the board of directors or its compensation and talent development committee (the "compensation committee"), but the board of directors and compensation committee intend to review the voting results and take them into consideration when making future decisions about executive compensation.

Method of Counting Votes

Each holder of common stock is entitled to one vote at the Annual Meeting on each matter to come before the Annual Meeting, including the election of a director, for each share held by such stockholder as of the record date. Votes cast at the Annual Meeting or by proxy by mail, via the Internet or by telephone will be tabulated by the inspector of election appointed for the Annual Meeting, who will also determine whether a quorum is present.

Abstentions and broker "non-votes" are not included in the tabulation of the voting results on any such proposal and, therefore, do not have an impact on such proposals. A broker "non-vote" occurs when a nominee holding shares for a beneficial owner does not vote on a particular proposal because the nominee does not have discretionary voting power with respect to that item, and has not received instructions from the beneficial owner.

Revoking a Proxy; Changing Your Vote

If you are a stockholder of record, you may revoke your proxy before the final vote is taken at the Annual Meeting:

- by signing and returning a new proxy card with a later date, to be received no later than June 13, 2022;
- by submitting a later-dated vote by telephone or via the Internet; please note that only your latest Internet or telephone proxy received by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time, on June 13, 2022, will be counted;
- by participating in the Annual Meeting on June 14, 2022 at 9:00 a.m. Eastern Time virtually via the Internet and voting again; or
- by filing a written revocation with our corporate secretary, to be received no later than June 13, 2022. The written revocation should be addressed to Intellia Therapeutics, Inc., 40 Erie Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139, Attention: Investor Relations / Corporate Secretary.

If your shares are held in "street name," you must contact the bank, broker or other nominee holding your shares and follow their instructions for revoking or changing your vote.

Your attendance at the Annual Meeting online will not automatically revoke your proxy.

Costs of Proxy Solicitation

We will bear the costs of soliciting proxies. In addition to solicitations by mail, our directors, officers, employees and agents, without additional remuneration, may solicit proxies by telephone, facsimile, email, personal interviews and other means. We have hired Broadridge Financial Solutions, Inc. to assist us in the distribution of Proxy Materials. Proxy solicitation expenses that we will pay include those for preparation, mailing, returning, and tabulating the proxies.

Voting Results

We plan to announce preliminary voting results at the Annual Meeting and will publish final results in a Current Report on Form 8-K to be filed with the SEC within four business days following the Annual Meeting.

PROPOSAL NO. 1 - ELECTION OF THREE CLASS III DIRECTORS

Our board of directors currently consists of nine members. In accordance with the terms of our second amended and restated certificate of incorporation and second amended and restated by-laws, our board of directors is divided into three classes, class I, class II and class III, with members of each class serving staggered three-year terms. The members of the classes are divided as follows:

- the class I directors are John F. Crowley, Jesse Goodman, M.D., M.P.H. and Muna Bhanji, R.Ph.* and their term will expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2023;
- the class II directors are Fred Cohen, M.D., D.Phil., Jean-François Formela, M.D., and Frank Verwiel, M.D., and their term will expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2024; and
- the class III directors are Caroline Dorsa, Georgia Keresty, Ph.D., M.P.H., and John M. Leonard, M.D., and their term will expire at the Annual Meeting.
- * On April 28, 2022, our board of directors appointed Muna Bhanji to our board of directors as a class I director.

Upon the expiration of the term of a class of directors, directors in that class will be eligible to be nominated by our board of directors and elected for a new three-year term at the annual meeting of stockholders in the year in which their term expires.

Our second amended and restated certificate of incorporation and second amended and restated by-laws provide that the authorized number of directors may be changed only by resolution of our board of directors. Our certificate of incorporation also provides that our directors may be removed only for cause by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the outstanding shares then entitled to vote in an annual election of directors, and that any vacancy on our board of directors, including a vacancy resulting from an enlargement of our board of directors, may be filled only by vote of a majority of our directors then in office.

Our board of directors has nominated Caroline Dorsa, Georgia Keresty, Ph.D., M.P.H., and John M. Leonard, M.D. for election as the class III directors at the Annual Meeting. The nominees are presently directors and have indicated a willingness to continue to serve as directors, if elected. If a nominee becomes unable or unwilling to serve, however, the proxies may be voted for a substitute nominee selected by our board of directors.

The board of directors seeks candidates that have broad experience and skills in areas important to the operation of our Company. We believe that the backgrounds and qualifications of our directors, considered as a group, should provide a composite mix of experience, diversity, knowledge and abilities that will allow our board of directors to promote our strategic objectives and fulfill its responsibilities to our stockholders. In this context, we also consider a variety of attributes in selecting nominees to our board of directors, such as:

- an understanding of, and experience in, the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, research and academic organizations and governmental regulatory agencies, and the scientific and legal landscapes in which such entities operate;
- an understanding of, and experience in, accounting oversight and governance, finance, and complex business transactions;
- leadership experience and significant accomplishments at public companies, government, non-profit entities, academic institutions or other comparable organizations;
- demonstrated business acumen, experience, and ability to exercise sound judgment in matters that relate to the current and long-term objectives
 of the Company and willingness and ability to contribute positively to the decision-making process of the Company;
- long-term reputation for the highest personal and professional integrity, honesty and adherence to high ethical standards; and
- demonstrated contribution as a member of other boards of directors, and sufficient time and availability to devote to the Company's affairs.

These factors and others are considered useful by our board of directors and are reviewed in the context of an assessment of the perceived needs of our board of directors at a particular point in time.

Nominees for Election as Class III Directors

Biographical information, including principal occupation and business experience during at least the last five years, for our nominees for election as the class III directors at our Annual Meeting is set forth below as of April 18, 2022.

	Age	Since
Caroline Dorsa has served as a member of our board of directors since December 2015. Currently Ms. Dorsa also serves as a member of the board of directors of Biogen Inc. ("Biogen"), a multinational biotechnology company, since 2010, Illumina, Inc., a global genetic tool and integrated systems developer, since January 2017, and Duke Energy Corporation since May 2021. Ms. Dorsa served as the executive vice president and chief financial officer of Public Service Enterprise Group Incorporated, a diversified energy company, from April 2009 until her retirement in October 2015 and served on its board of directors from February 2003 to April 2009. From February 2008 to April 2009, she served as senior vice president, global human health, strategy and integration at Merck & Co., Inc. ("Merck"). From November 2007 to January 2008, Ms. Dorsa served as senior vice president and chief financial officer of Gilead Sciences, Inc. ("Gilead"). From February 2007 to November 2007, she served as senior vice president and chief financial officer of Avaya, Inc., a telecommunications company. From 1987 to January 2007, Ms. Dorsa held various financial and operational positions at Merck, including vice president and treasurer, executive director of U.S. customer marketing, and executive director of U.S. pricing and strategic planning. Ms. Dorsa received her B.A. in history from Colgate University and her M.B.A. from Columbia University. We believe Ms. Dorsa's executive leadership experience and board member experience in large multinational pharmaceutical companies, as well as her operational, financial and accounting expertise and knowledge of the pharmaceutical industry and other major industries, provide her with the qualifications and skills to serve as a director of our Company.	62	December 2015

Georgia Keresty, Ph.D., M.P.H. has served as a member of our board of directors since April 2021. Dr. Keresty served as the chief operating officer for Takeda Research and Development ("Takeda R&D"), a division of Takeda Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. ("Takeda") from December 2017 to December 2020. During Dr. Keresty's time at Takeda, she also served as Takeda R&D's global head of medical sciences and development operations. Prior to her time at Takeda, Dr. Keresty worked at Johnson & Johnson from July 2003 to September 2017, serving in multiple roles including as vice president and global head, pharmaceutical development and manufacturing science. Dr. Keresty has also worked at Bristol-Myers Squibb Company and Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation. Dr. Keresty earned a B.S. in chemical engineering from Clarkson University and a B.S. in computer science from Ramapo College of New Jersey. Dr. Keresty also earned an M.S. in information systems from Pace University, an M.B.A. and Ph.D. in operations management from Rutgers Business School and an M.P.H. in Global Health Leadership from the University of Southern California. Dr. Keresty achieved her NACD Directorship Certification in September 2020, and serves on the board of directors of Solid Biosciences, Inc., Aspen Technology, Inc. and Commissioning Agents, Inc., a privately held global engineering services firm serving the pharmaceutical and technology industries. Dr. Keresty is also on the board of trustees for Clarkson University. We believe that Dr. Keresty's leadership experience and vast experience with manufacturing and research and development in the pharmaceutical industry provide her with the qualifications and skills to serve as a director of our Company.

Director

John M. Leonard, M.D. has served as our president and chief executive officer since January 2018, and as a member of our board of directors since July 2014. Dr. Leonard has over 30 years of combined experience in medicine and pharmaceutical research and development. He previously served as our executive vice president, research and development from January 2017 to January 2018, and prior to that served as our chief medical officer from July 2014 to January 2017. Prior to joining Intellia, Dr. Leonard was chief scientific officer and senior vice president of research & development at AbbVie, Inc. ("AbbVie"), a global biopharmaceutical company, from its spin-out from Abbott Laboratories ("Abbott") in January 2013 until retiring at the end of 2013. Prior to the formation of AbbVie, from 2008 to 2012, he was global head of pharmaceutical research & development at Abbott, a multinational pharmaceutical and health care products company, and before that served in various research and development roles at Abbott beginning in 1992. Since October 2016, Dr. Leonard has served on the board of directors of IQVIA Holdings Inc., a multinational health information technology and clinical research company. Between February 2015 and October 2016, he served on the board of directors of Quintiles, an international contract research organization and pharmaceutical service consulting company, which merged with IMS to form IQVIA. In the past five years, he also served on the board of directors of Chimerix, Inc. (until March 2018) and Vitae Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (until its acquisition by Allergan plc in 2016). Dr. Leonard also currently serves on the board of directors of a privately held biopharmaceutical company. He received a B.A. in biochemistry from the University of Wisconsin at Madison and an M.D. from Johns Hopkins University. Dr. Leonard completed his residency in internal medicine at Stanford University School of Medicine, and then completed a postdoctoral fellowship in molecular virology at the National Institute of Allergy

Age Since
64 July 2014

The proxies will be voted in favor of the above nominees unless a contrary specification is made in the proxy. The nominees have consented to serve as our directors if elected. However, if a nominee is unable to serve or for good cause will not serve as a director, the proxies will be voted for the election of such substitute nominee as our board of directors may designate.

The board of directors recommends voting "FOR" the election of Caroline Dorsa, Georgia Keresty, Ph.D., M.P.H., and John M. Leonard, M.D., as the class III directors, to serve for a three-year term ending at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2025.

Directors Continuing in Office

Biographical information, including principal occupation and business experience during at least the last five years, for our directors continuing in office is set forth below.

Class I Directors (Term Expires at 2023 Annual Meeting)

John F. Crowley has served as a member of our board of directors since October 2020. Mr. Crowley has served as a director, chairman and chief executive officer of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. ("Amicus") since February 2010 and has been its chief executive officer since January 2005, except for the period from April 2011 through August 2011 during which time he served as executive chairman. Mr. Crowley has also served as a director of Amicus since August 2004, except for the period from September 2006 to March 2007 when he was in active-duty service in the United States Navy (Reserve). Mr. Crowley was president and chief executive officer of Orexigen Therapeutics, Inc. from September 2003 to December 2004. He was president and chief executive officer of Novazyme Pharmaceuticals, Inc., from March 2000 until that company was acquired by Genzyme Corporation in September 2001; thereafter he served as senior vice president of Genzyme Therapeutics until December 2002. Mr. Crowley also serves on the board of directors of Entrada Therapeutics, Inc. Mr. Crowley received a B.S. degree in foreign service from Georgetown University's School of Foreign Service, a J.D. from the University of Notre Dame Law School, and an M.B.A. from Harvard Business School. We believe Mr. Crowley possesses strong leadership qualities, demonstrated through his service as an executive in the pharmaceutical industry, including his current and prior roles as chief executive officer of commercial and development stage biopharmaceutical companies. We believe that these qualities, along with Mr. Crowley's extensive and intimate knowledge of the rare disease community and the needs of people living with rare diseases, provide him with the qualifications and skills to serve as a director of our Company.

Age	Director Since		
70	October	2018	

Director

Since October 2020

Age

Jesse Goodman, M.D., M.P.H. has served as a member of our board of directors since October 2018. Since March 2014, Dr. Goodman has been the director of the Center on Medical Product Access, Safety and Stewardship, and professor of medicine and attending physician in infectious diseases at Georgetown University. Dr. Goodman also is an infectious disease physician at the Washington DC Veterans Affairs and Walter Reed Medical Centers. Dr. Goodman serves on the board of directors of GlaxoSmithKline plc, a multinational pharmaceutical company which he joined in 2016, and chairs that board's science committee, and he serves on the board of directors of Adaptive Phage Therapeutics, Inc. Dr. Goodman also has served as a president (2015 to 2020) and member (2015 to present) of the board of trustees of the United States Pharmacopeia. He is also a member of the board of scientific counselors for infectious diseases of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention ("CDC"). From 2009 until February 2014, Dr. Goodman served as the chief scientist of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA"). Dr. Goodman also served as deputy commissioner for science and public health at the FDA from 2009 through 2012. Prior to that, Dr. Goodman was the director of the FDA's Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research from 2003 to 2009 and a senior advisor to the FDA commissioner from 1998 through 2000. Prior to his government service, Dr. Goodman was professor of medicine and chief of infectious diseases at the University of Minnesota. Dr. Goodman has served on numerous advisory boards and committees for national and international health care organizations, including the CDC, the National Institute of Health, the World Health Organization and the Coalition on Epidemic Preparedness Innovations. Dr. Goodman received a B.S. in biology from Harvard College, a master's in public health from the University of Minnesota and an M.D. from the Albert Einstein College of Medicine, and did his residency and fellowship training in medicine, infectious diseases and oncology at the Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania and at the University of California in Los Angeles, where he was also chief medical resident. He has been elected to the Institute of Medicine of the National Academy of Sciences. We believe that Dr. Goodman's expertise in medicine, biopharmaceutical regulatory requirements and public health, including as a professor, practicing clinician and senior government leader, provides him with the qualifications and skills to serve as a director of our Company.

Muna Bhanji, R.Ph. has served as a member of our board of directors since April 2022. Ms. Bhanji is the founder and principal of TIBA Global Access, LLC, a commercialization and market access strategy consultancy serving the biopharmaceutical industry since January 2021. Ms. Bhanji previously served in roles of increasing responsibility at Merck including a number of senior strategic leadership and operating roles within the U.S. and global commercial organizations driving growth across a broad portfolio of medicines and vaccines of over \$40+ billion annually. Most recently, Ms. Bhanji served as the senior vice president, global market access & policy with responsibility for enabling payer reimbursement and access for patients, for Merck's products around the world from 2010 through December 2020 and as senior vice president, hospital & specialty franchises from 2014 until 2017. In addition, Ms. Bhanji served as senior vice president for global oncology and global hospital and specialty commercial franchises for Merck. She currently serves on the board of directors of Cytokinetics, Inc., Veracyte, Inc. and Ardelyx, Inc. She also serves on the board of Corus International, an ensemble of faith-based organizations working at the intersection of poverty alleviation and healthcare, in the most underserved parts of the world. Muna earned her B.Sc. in Pharmacy from Rutgers School of Pharmacy and an M.B.A. from St. Joseph's University. We believe that Ms. Bhanji is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to her extensive U.S. and global commercial and operational experience within the pharmaceutical industry.

9

Age

59

Since

April 2022

Fred Cohen, M.D., D.Phil. has served as a member of our board of directors since January 2019. Dr. Cohen co-founded Vida Ventures, a biotechnology venture capital fund, in 2017 and has served as one of its senior managing directors since then. From 2001 to 2016, he was a partner of TPG, a private equity company, and served as the co-head of its biotechnology group, TPG Biotech, a venture capital fund that he founded in 2001. Dr. Cohen currently serves as a senior advisor to TPG. From 1988 through December 2014, Dr. Cohen was a professor of cellular and molecular pharmacology at the University of California, San Francisco ("UCSF"), where he also held various clinical responsibilities, including as a research scientist, an internist for hospitalized patients, a consulting endocrinologist, and chief of the division of endocrinology and metabolism. He is a member of the board of trustees of the UCSF Foundation. Dr. Cohen currently serves on the boards of directors of Progyny, Inc., CareDx, Inc., and UroGen Pharma Ltd. Within the last five years, Dr. Cohen has also served on the boards of directors of the following public biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies: Genomics Health, Inc. (until November 2019), Tandem Diabetes Care, Inc. (until June 2019), BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (until January 2019), Five Prime Therapeutics, Inc. (until May 2018), Roka Bio Science (until its acquisition in October 2017) and Veracyte, Inc. (until June 2021). Dr. Cohen was a co-founder and executive chairperson of privately held Cell Design Labs, which was acquired by Gilead in December 2017. He holds a B.S. in molecular biophysics and biochemistry from Yale University, a D.Phil. in molecular biophysics from Oxford University, and an M.D. from Stanford University. Dr. Cohen completed his postdoctoral training and postgraduate medical training in internal medicine and endocrinology at UCSF. He is a fellow of the American College of Physicians and the American College of Medical Informatics, and a member of the American Society for Clinical Investigation and Association of American Physicians. Dr. Cohen was elected to the National Academy of Medicine in 2004 and the American Academy of Arts and Sciences in 2008. Dr. Cohen currently serves on the board of directors of various private biotechnology and healthcare companies. We believe that Dr. Cohen's vast experience in the biotechnology industry, including providing strategic advice and oversight to preclinical, clinical and commercial biopharmaceutical companies, and in medicine, as a researcher, professor and clinician, provides him with the qualifications and skills to serve as a director of our Company.

Jean-François Formela, M.D. has served as a member of our board of directors since our founding in May 2014. Dr. Formela is currently a partner at Atlas Venture, a life sciences-focused venture capital firm, which he joined in 1993 to build the Life Sciences franchise. Prior to joining Atlas Venture, Dr. Formela served as a senior director of medical marketing and scientific affairs at Schering-Plough Corporation, a pharmaceutical company which has since merged with Merck. Dr. Formela began his career as a physician practicing emergency medicine at Necker University Hospital in Paris. Dr. Formela currently serves on the board of directors of Translate Bio, Inc., Spero Therapeutics, Inc. and Ikena Oncology, Inc. Within the last five years, he also served on the board of directors of Egalet Corporation (now known as Zyla Life Sciences) until April 2017. Dr. Formela currently serves on the board of directors of various private biotechnology and healthcare companies. Dr. Formela is a member of the Partners Healthcare Innovation Advisory Board and a former trustee of the Boston Institute of Contemporary Art. He also is a member of the MGH Research Institute advisory council. He received his M.D. from the Paris University School of Medicine and his M.B.A. from Columbia University. We believe Dr. Formela's experience as an investor and board member in the life sciences industry, as well as his scientific and medical knowledge, provide him with the qualifications and skills to serve as a director of our Company.

Age	Director Since
65	May 2014

Director

Since January 2019

Age

65

	Age	Since
Frank Verwiel, M.D. has served as the chairperson of our board of directors since February 2020 after joining	g as a 59	July 2017
member in July 2017. From July 2005 to February 2008, Dr. Verwiel served as president, chief executive officer	and a	•
member of the board of directors of Axcan Pharma, Inc. ("Axcan"), a public specialty pharmaceutical company.	. Dr.	
Verwiel continued with these responsibilities after taking Axcan private in February 2008 and through February	2014	

Director

member in July 2017. From July 2005 to February 2008, Dr. Verwiel served as president, chief executive officer and a member of the board of directors of Axcan Pharma, Inc. ("Axcan"), a public specialty pharmaceutical company. Dr. Verwiel continued with these responsibilities after taking Axcan private in February 2008 and through February 2014 when the company, which had changed its name to Aptalis Pharma, Inc. ("Aptalis"), was acquired by Forest Laboratories, Inc. Prior to joining Aptalis, Dr. Verwiel held international senior management positions with Merck, including as vice president, hypertension, worldwide human health marketing from June 2001 to May 2005. He concurrently served as a leader of Merck's worldwide hypertension business strategy team. Dr. Verwiel was also managing director of Merck's Dutch subsidiary from June 1996 to May 2001. Prior to his tenure at Merck, he had international leadership positions at Servier Laboratories, a pharmaceutical company, from 1988 until 1995. Dr. Verwiel currently serves on the boards of directors of ObsEva SA, a biopharmaceutical company, which he joined in January 2016, and for which he is currently the chairman of its board of directors, Bavarian Nordic A/S, a biopharmaceutical vaccine company, which he joined in April 2016, and Capsida Biotherapeutics Inc. since August 2019. Within the last five years, Dr. Verwiel has also served on the boards of directors of the following public biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies: Achillion Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (until January 2020, when it was acquired by Alexion Inc.) and Avexis, Inc. (until May 2018, when it was acquired by Novartis AG). Dr. Verwiel was also a member of the board of directors of the Biotechnology Innovation Organization from February 2013 to April 2014 and currently serves on the board of directors of a private biopharmaceutical company. Dr. Verwiel holds an M.D. from Erasmus University, Rotterdam in the Netherlands and an M.B.A. from INSEAD, Fontainebleau in France. We believe that Dr. Verwiel's ex

There are no family relationships between or among any of our directors or executive officers. The principal occupation and employment during the past five years of each of our directors was performed, in each case except as specifically identified above, with a corporation or organization that is not a parent, subsidiary or other affiliate of the Company. There is no arrangement or understanding between any of our directors and any other person or persons pursuant to which he or she is to be selected as a director.

There are no material legal proceedings to which any of our directors is a party adverse to the Company or any of its subsidiaries or in which any such person has a material interest adverse to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Summary of Board Qualifications and Experience

	Muna Bhanji	Fred Cohen	John Crowley	Caroline Dorsa	Jean- François Formela	Jesse Goodman	Georgia Keresty	John Leonard	Frank Verwiel
Experience									
Biopharma/Biotech									
Pharmaceutical									
CEO/President/COO									
CFO or Financial Expert									
Strategy/Corporate Development									
Private Equity/Venture									
R&D									
Manufacturing/Quality									
Regulatory									
Other Public Board Experience			C						C
M.D./Ph.D./M.P.H.									
Intellia Tenure									
Intellia Tenure in Years	<1	3	1	7	8	4	1	8	5
			denotes expe	erience		-			
		C	denotes chai	rperson expe	rience				

We are focused on using CRISPR/Cas9-based genome editing technologies to develop novel, potentially curative therapeutics that may permanently edit and/or correct disease-associated genes in the human body with a single dose, as well as creating engineered cell therapies to address immuno-oncology and autoimmune diseases. We transitioned into a clinical stage company, and our ultimate goal is to build a full-spectrum genome editing company that leverages our modular platform to advance *in vivo* and *ex vivo* therapies for diseases with high unmet need. We believe that our current directors, individually and as a group, have the necessary experience, knowledge and abilities to set our strategic objectives and oversee the Company as we implement our strategy. Each of our directors is an experienced director of other publicly held companies with commercial products, and each has served on key board committees, including audit, compensation and nominating and governance committees. They each use this experience to ensure appropriate oversight and strategic direction of Intellia's matters. Many of our directors, such as Drs. Cohen, Formela and Verwiel and Mr. Crowley, have been directors or executive leaders of start-up and mid-sized biopharmaceutical companies that developed therapeutic candidates using novel technologies and transitioned from preclinical to clinical and commercial stages, and use this experience to inform the Company's strategy. Others, such as Ms. Dorsa, Ms. Bhanji and Drs. Keresty and Leonard, held executive leadership positions in established pharmaceutical companies with significant commercial therapeutic products, which helps ensure that our long-term strategy includes consideration of these factors. Dr. Goodman's experience as a regulator, Dr. Leonard's experience as head of pharmaceutical research and development, and Dr. Keresty's experience leading pharmaceutical operations and manufacturing functions allow each to provide critical input and oversight for the clinical development and manufacturing of our product candidates, both currently and in the future. Ms. Dorsa is a financial expert, who led key financial functions at public companies in both pharmaceutical and non-pharmaceutical industries, and Drs. Cohen, Formela and Verwiel are experienced private and public market investors with a deep and broad understanding of the financial markets and technological landscape, including competitive and complementary technologies. Their investing and financial experience helps the Company to make optimal decisions regarding its investment and use of proceeds, and strategic decisions regarding material agreements and collaborations. Ms. Bhanji's experience as a leader of commercialization and market access, including reimbursement, at an established pharmaceutical company will enable her to provide critical input and oversight for our commercialization strategies. Finally, the vast majority of our board members are scientifically trained, holding advanced medical and scientific doctorates, which allows them to expertly evaluate the Company's research and development programs within the relevant technological landscape. For these reasons, and those set forth in their biographies above, we believe that the members of our board of directors are the appropriate stewards of the Company as we expand our pipeline and continue to move towards approval and commercialization of our product candidates.

Executive Officers Who Are Not Directors

Biographical information for our executive officers who are not directors is listed below.

James Basta, J.D. has served as our executive vice president, general counsel and corporate secretary since June 2021. Prior to joining Intellia, Mr. Basta served as chief legal officer and secretary at Kura Oncology, Inc. ("Kura") from November 2019 to June 2021. Prior to Kura, he spent 13 years at Biogen, from 2006 through 2019, where he most recently served as senior vice president and chief corporation counsel, managing the legal representation for Biogen's securities filings, board of directors, business development, finance and tax, corporate affairs, employment and information technology. Prior to joining Biogen, he was a partner in the Corporate and Securities Practice Group at Baker & McKenzie. Mr. Basta serves on the executive advisory board of the Chemistry Life Processes Institute at Northwestern University. He earned his J.D. from Northwestern University Pritzker School of Law and his B.A. in economics from Northwestern University.

Age	Officer Since		
56	June 2021		

Eliana Clark, Ph.D. has served as our executive vice president, chief technology officer since February 2022. Prior to her
current role, Dr. Clark served as our senior vice president of technical operations since January 2020. Prior to Intellia, she
spent seven years in many leadership roles at Biogen, including vice president of product development and portfolio
management, vice president of international manufacturing operations and vice president of global manufacturing
sciences. In her most recent role, she led the team responsible for CMC product strategy, supply and lifecycle
management for their entire product portfolio. Before Biogen, Dr. Clark spent many years at Sanofi/Genzyme, where she
held leadership roles in formulation development, technical services and CMC regulatory. Prior to working in industry,
she was a professor at Tufts University in the Chemical and Biological Engineering Department for nearly 15 years. Dr.
Clark holds a B.E. and Ph.D. in chemical engineering from the Universidad Nacional de Litoral in Santa Fe, Argentina,
and graduated from the Greater Boston Executive Program at MIT Sloan School of Management.

Glenn G. Goddard has served as our executive vice president, chief financial officer and treasurer since October 2018. From May 2017 to October 2018, Mr. Goddard served as the chief financial officer at Generation Bio Company. Mr. Goddard served as the senior vice president of finance and principal financial officer at Agios Pharmaceuticals, Inc. from September 2013 through November 2016, and as vice president, finance from July 2010 through September 2013. Mr. Goddard brings over 20 years of experience in emerging private and public platform-based biopharmaceutical companies. From January 2004 to June 2010, Mr. Goddard worked at Archemix Corporation, a privately held oligonucleotide platform-based biopharmaceutical company, where he most recently served as the vice president of finance. From January 2001 through December 2003, Mr. Goddard was the corporate controller of ImmunoGen, Inc., a publicly-traded oncology-focused biopharmaceutical company. Earlier in his career, Mr. Goddard was an audit supervisor within the Technology, Communication and Entertainment group of Ernst & Young LLP and an audit manager at Feeley & Driscoll, P.C. Mr. Goddard is a member of the board of directors of AvenCell Therapeutics, Inc. Mr. Goddard is a graduate of Bentley College, where he earned a B.S. in accountancy, and is a certified public accountant in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

Derek Hicks has served as our executive vice president, chief business officer since December 2021. Prior to joining Intellia, Mr. Hicks served as head of business development at Spark Therapeutics from September 2020 to December 2021 and prior to that role he spent 18 years at Pfizer Inc. in a variety of business and corporate development roles, culminating with his position as vice president, corporate development, world-wide business development. Mr. Hicks holds a B.S. and M.S. in mechanical engineering from the University of Connecticut and an M.B.A. from Indiana University, Kelley School of Business.

David Lebwohl, M.D. has served as our executive vice president, chief medical officer since April 2020. Prior to joining Intellia, Dr. Lebwohl was chief medical officer at Semma Therapeutics, Inc. ("Semma") starting in November 2018, which was acquired by Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated ("Vertex"). Prior to his role at Semma, Dr. Lebwohl held numerous senior-level positions leading drug development at the global healthcare company, Novartis Pharmaceuticals Inc. ("Novartis") from 2003 to 2018, including as senior vice president and franchise global program head, CAR-T, Promacta and SEG101 Global Program Teams. Prior to Novartis, Dr. Lebwohl led oncology development teams at Bristol Myers Squibb Inc. Dr. Lebwohl received an undergraduate degree in biochemical sciences from Harvard College and an M.D. from the Yale University School of Medicine. He completed his fellowship training at Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center and his residency in Internal Medicine at Brigham and Women's Hospital in Boston. Dr. Lebwohl has authored more than 50 peer-reviewed publications.

51	October 2018
51	October 2010
Age	Officer Since
49	December
	2021
	2021

Age

Age

Officer Since February 2022

Officer Since

Officer Since

April 2020

<i>Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D.</i> has served as our executive vice president, chief scientific officer since May 2019. Prior to joining Intellia, Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino was vice president, head of nucleic acid therapies, research, and a member of the research leadership and external innovation team at Vertex from September 2017 to May 2019. From April 2014 to September 2017, Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino was vice president, entrepreneur-in-residence and head of the hepatic infectious
disease strategic therapeutic area at Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc. She has been a member of the scientific advisory boards of Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc. and Lodo Therapeutics Corp. since October 2018 and August 2020, respectively, and in December 2020 she joined the board of directors of Taysha Gene Therapies Inc., a biopharmaceutical company focused on developing treatments for monogenic diseases in the central nervous system. Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino is also a member of the board of directors of the Oligonucleotide Therapeutics Society. Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino earned a professional degree in biochemistry from the Universidad de Buenos Aires in Argentina and a Ph.D. in biochemistry from New York University.

Age Officer Since
of 61 May 2019
of to the total structure of the to

The principal occupation and employment during the past five years of each of our executive officers was carried on, in each case except as specifically identified above, with a corporation or organization that is not a parent, subsidiary or other affiliate of the Company. There is no arrangement or understanding between any of our executive officers and any other person or persons pursuant to which he or she was or is to be selected as an executive officer.

There are no material legal proceedings to which any of our executive officers is a party adverse to the Company or our subsidiaries or in which any such person has a material interest adverse to the Company or its subsidiaries.

PROPOSAL NO. 2 – RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP AS INTELLIA'S INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2022

Intellia's stockholders are being asked to ratify the appointment by the audit committee of the board of directors of Deloitte & Touche LLP as Intellia's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022. Deloitte & Touche LLP has served as Intellia's independent registered public accounting firm since 2015.

The audit committee is responsible for selecting and appointing Intellia's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022. Stockholder approval is not required to appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as Intellia's independent registered public accounting firm. However, the board of directors believes that submitting the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP to the stockholders for ratification is good corporate governance. If the stockholders do not ratify this appointment, the audit committee will reconsider whether to retain Deloitte & Touche LLP. Even if the selection of Deloitte & Touche LLP is ratified, the audit committee, at its discretion, may direct the appointment of a different independent registered public accounting firm at any time it decides that such a change would be in the best interest of Intellia and its stockholders.

A representative of Deloitte & Touche LLP is expected to be present at the Annual Meeting and will have an opportunity to make a statement if he or she desires to do so and to respond to appropriate questions from our stockholders.

Intellia incurred the following fees from Deloitte & Touche LLP for the audit of the consolidated financial statements and for other services provided during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

	 2021	 2020
Audit fees (1)	\$ 962,420	\$ 930,057
Audit-related fees (2)	1,895	1,895
Tax-related fees (3)	 39,220	 32,600
Total fees	\$ 1,003,535	\$ 964,552

- (1) Audit fees consist of fees for the audit of our financial statements included in our 2021 and 2020 Annual Reports, the review of our interim financial statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and other professional services provided in connection with registration statements filed with the SEC.
- (2) Audit-related fees represent payment for access to the Deloitte & Touche LLP online accounting research database.
- (3) Tax-related fees represent fees for professional services provided for tax compliance, including the preparation of tax returns, tax advice and planning and assistance.

Audit Committee Pre-approval Policy and Procedures

Our audit committee has adopted policies and procedures relating to the approval of all audit and non-audit services that are to be performed by our independent registered public accounting firm. This policy provides that we will not engage our independent registered public accounting firm to render audit or non-audit services, other than non-audit services that are "de minimis" under Section 10A(i)(1)(B) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), unless the service or category of service is specifically approved in advance by our audit committee or the engagement is entered into pursuant to the pre-approval procedure described below.

From time to time, our audit committee, or one or more members of the audit committee delegated by the audit committee, may pre-approve all auditing services and the terms thereof and non-audit services (other than non-audit services prohibited under Section 10A(g) of the Exchange Act or the applicable rules of the SEC or the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (the "PCAOB")) to be provided to the Company by the independent auditors during the next 12 months, provided that if the audit committee delegates one or more of its members to make such pre-approval decisions then such delegate(s) shall present all pre-approval decisions to the full audit committee at its first meeting following such decision. Any such pre-approval details the particular service or category of service to be provided and is also generally subject to a maximum dollar amount. The audit committee also regularly receives updates from management about the services actually performed and the associated fees and expenses actually incurred. Management must obtain the specific prior approval of the audit committee for each engagement of the independent registered public accounting firm to perform other audit-related or other non-audit services, except that the audit committee may delegate one or more members of the audit committee to pre-approve engagements for non-audit services and any such approved non-audit services must then be presented to the audit committee at its next meeting. The audit committee does not delegate its responsibility to approve services performed by the independent registered public accounting firm to any member of management.

During our 2021 and 2020 fiscal years, all of the services provided to us by Deloitte & Touche LLP were in accordance with the pre-approval policies and procedures described above.

The board of directors recommends voting "FOR" Proposal No. 2 to ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as Intellia's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022.

PROPOSAL NO. 3 – ADVISORY VOTE ON NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICER COMPENSATION

Intellia's stockholders are being asked to vote, on a non-binding advisory basis, on the compensation of our named executive officers as explained herein. The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (the "Dodd-Frank Act") enables our stockholders to vote to approve, on a non-binding advisory basis, the compensation of our named executive officers as disclosed in this proxy statement in accordance with the SEC's rules. In the "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" section below, we describe our executive compensation programs and the decisions that our board of directors and its compensation committee made regarding the 2021 compensation of our named executive officers. We have implemented a pay-for-performance focused compensation program that is designed to motivate employees, including our named executive officers, to achieve short- and long-term results that drive the Company's success and are in the best interests of our stockholders. We believe our compensation policy strikes an appropriate balance between the implementation of responsible, measured compensation practices and the effective provision of incentives for our named executive officers to exert their best efforts for scientific and business success.

Our stockholders voted on May 21, 2019, to have advisory votes every year to approve the compensation paid to our named executive officers, and we have adopted that approach and will continue that approach until the next required stockholder vote on the frequency of future advisory votes. This vote is not intended to address any specific item of compensation, but rather the overall compensation of our named executive officers and the policies and practices described in this proxy statement.

As this vote is advisory, it will not be binding upon our board of directors or compensation committee, and neither our board of directors nor our compensation committee will be required to take any action as a result of the outcome of this vote. However, our compensation committee values the views of our stockholders and will carefully consider the outcome of this vote when considering future executive compensation policies and decisions.

For approval, this proposal must receive the affirmative vote of the majority of shares properly cast on the proposal. Abstentions and broker non-votes will have no effect on Proposal No. 3.

Accordingly, our board of directors is asking our stockholders to vote FOR the following non-binding advisory resolution on the approval of the compensation of the Company's named executive officers as disclosed in this proxy statement:

"BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Company's stockholders hereby approve, on a non-binding advisory basis, the compensation of the Company's named executive officers, as disclosed in the proxy statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders pursuant to Section 14A of the Exchange Act, including the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the Summary Compensation Table, and the narrative disclosures that accompany the compensation tables."

TRANSACTION OF OTHER BUSINESS

Our board of directors does not know of any other matters to be raised at the Annual Meeting. If any other matters not mentioned in this proxy statement are properly brought before the meeting, the appropriate executive officers and directors named in this proxy statement intend to use their discretionary voting authority under the proxy to vote the proxy in accordance with their best judgment on those matters.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Director Nomination Process

Our nominating and corporate governance committee is responsible for identifying individuals qualified to serve as directors, consistent with criteria approved by our board, and recommending such persons to be nominated for election as directors, except where we are legally required by contract, law or otherwise to provide third parties with the right to nominate.

The process followed by our nominating and corporate governance committee to identify and evaluate director candidates includes requests to directors and others for recommendations, meetings from time to time to evaluate biographical information and background material relating to current directors and potential candidates, and interviews of selected candidates by management, recruiters and members of the committee and our board. The qualifications, qualities and skills that our nominating and corporate governance committee believes must be met by a committee-recommended nominee for a position on our board of directors are as follows:

- Nominees should have experience at a strategic or policymaking level in a business, government, non-profit or academic organization of high standing;
- Nominees should be highly accomplished in his or her respective field, with superior credentials and recognition;
- Nominees should have demonstrated business acumen, experience and ability to exercise sound judgment in matters that relate to the current and long-term objectives of the Company and should be willing and able to contribute positively to the decision-making process of the Company;
- Nominees should bring diverse representation to help achieve the board's diversity goals;
- Nominees should be well regarded in the community and shall have a long-term reputation for the highest personal and professional integrity, honesty and adherence to high ethical standards;
- Nominees should have sufficient time and availability to devote to the affairs of the Company, particularly in light of the number of boards of directors on which such candidate may serve;
- Nominees should have a demonstrated history of actively contributing at board of directors meetings, to the extent the nominee serves or has previously served on other boards of directors;
- Nominees should be most effective, in conjunction with the other candidates to the board of directors, in collectively serving the long-term interests of the stockholders; and
- Nominees should come from a pool of candidates that include representatives of diverse attributes, inclusive of gender, race, ethnicity, age and sexual orientation.

Stockholders may recommend individuals to the nominating and corporate governance committee for consideration as potential director candidates. Any such proposals should be submitted to our corporate secretary at our principal executive offices no later than the close of business on the 120th day prior to the first anniversary of the date of the preceding year's annual meeting and should include appropriate biographical and background material to allow the nominating and corporate governance committee to properly evaluate the potential director candidate and the number of shares of our stock beneficially owned by the stockholder proposing the candidate. Stockholder proposals should be addressed to Intellia Therapeutics, Inc., 40 Erie Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139, Attention: Investor Relations / Corporate Secretary. Assuming that biographical and background material has been provided on a timely basis in accordance with our second amended and restated by-laws, any recommendations received from stockholders will be evaluated in the same manner as potential nominees proposed by the nominating and corporate governance committee. If our board of directors determines to nominate and recommend the election of a stockholder-recommended nominee, then his or her name will be included on our proxy card for the next annual meeting of stockholders. See "Stockholder Proposals" for a discussion of submitting stockholder proposals.

Board Diversity

We believe that diversity among directors, inclusive of race, ethnicity, sexual orientation and gender, as well as experience, is an important attribute of a well-functioning board of directors and a measure of sound corporate governance. Our Second Amended and Restated Corporate Governance Guidelines provide that the value of diversity must be considered in determining director candidates as well as other factors such as a candidate's character, judgment, skills, education, expertise and absence of conflicts of interest. We have imbedded in our governance documents a commitment to seek a balance of diverse representation on our board of directors, inclusive of gender, race, ethnicity and sexual orientation, and to include candidates with such diverse attributes in each candidate pool for any open position on the board of directors. Below, we have provided an assessment of the gender, racial and ethnic background

of our current board of directors. We are presently recruiting for open seats on the board of directors from a list of candidates that is diverse in terms of race, ethnicity, gender and sexual orientation.

Board Diversity Matrix (As of May 2, 2022)					
Total Number of Directors	9				
Gender					
Female	3				
Male	6				
Non-Binary					
Racial/Ethnic Background					
African American or Black					
Alaskan Native or Native American					
Asian	1				
Hispanic or Latinx					
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander					
White	8				
Two or More Races or Ethnicities					

Director Independence

Applicable Nasdaq Stock Market LLC ("Nasdaq") rules require a majority of a listed company's board of directors to be comprised of independent directors. In addition, Nasdaq rules require that, subject to specified exceptions, each member of a listed company's audit, compensation and nominating and corporate governance committees be independent; that audit committee members also satisfy independence criteria set forth in Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act and that compensation committee members satisfy independence criteria set forth in Rule 10C-1 under the Exchange Act. Under applicable Nasdaq rules, a director will only qualify as an "independent director" if, in the opinion of the listed company's board of directors, that person does not have a relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. In order to be considered independent for purposes of Rule 10A-3, a member of an audit committee of a listed company may not, other than in his or her capacity as a member of the board of directors, the audit committee, or any other committee of the board of directors, accept, directly or indirectly, any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee from the listed company or any of its subsidiaries or otherwise be an affiliated person of the listed company or any of its subsidiaries. In addition, in affirmatively determining the independence of any director who will serve on a company's compensation committee, Rule 10C-1 under the Exchange Act requires that a company's board of directors consider all factors specifically relevant to determining whether a director has a relationship to such company that is material to that director's ability to be independent from management in connection with the duties of a compensation committee member, including: the source of compensation to the director, including any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee paid by such company to the director, and whether the director is affiliated with the comp

Our board of directors has determined that each of the directors who served during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, with the exception of Dr. Leonard, and each of the nominees for director at the Annual Meeting, with the exception of Dr. Leonard, is an independent director, including for purposes of Nasdaq and SEC rules. In making such independence determination, our board of directors considered the relationships that each non-employee director has with the Company and all other facts and circumstances that our board of directors deemed relevant in determining their independence, including the beneficial ownership of our capital stock by each non-employee director. In considering the independence of the directors listed above, our board of directors considered the association of our directors with the holders of more than 5% of our common stock. There are no family relationships among any of our directors or executive officers. Dr. Leonard is not an independent director under these rules because he is an executive officer of the Company.

Board Committees

Our board of directors has established an audit committee, a compensation committee, and a nominating and corporate governance committee. Each of the audit committee, compensation committee, and nominating and corporate governance committee operates under a charter, and each such committee reviews its respective charter at least annually. A current copy of the charter for each of the audit committee, compensation committee, and nominating and corporate governance committee is posted on the corporate governance section of our website, http://ir.intelliatx.com/corporate-governance/documents-charters.

Audit Committee

Ms. Dorsa, Dr. Formela, Dr. Verwiel and Dr. Keresty served on the audit committee in 2021, which is chaired by Ms. Dorsa. Dr. Keresty joined the audit committee in April 2021. Our board of directors has determined that each of Ms. Dorsa, Dr. Formela, Dr.

Keresty and Dr. Verwiel is "independent" for audit committee purposes as that term is defined in the applicable rules of the SEC and Nasdaq, and has sufficient knowledge in financial and auditing matters to serve on the audit committee. Our board of directors has designated Ms. Dorsa as an "audit committee financial expert," as defined under the applicable rules of the SEC. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, the audit committee met five times. The report of the audit committee is included in this proxy statement under "Report of the Audit Committee." The audit committee's responsibilities include:

- appointing, approving the compensation of, and assessing the independence of our independent registered public accounting firm;
- pre-approving auditing and permissible non-audit services, and the terms of such services, to be provided by our independent registered public accounting firm;
- reviewing and approving the overall audit plan with our independent registered public accounting firm and members of management responsible for preparing our financial statements;
- reviewing and discussing with management and our independent registered public accounting firm our annual and quarterly financial statements and related disclosures as well as critical accounting policies and practices used by us;
- coordinating the oversight and reviewing the adequacy of our internal controls over financial reporting;
- establishing policies and procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of finance-related complaints and concerns;
- recommending, based upon the audit committee's review and discussions with management and our independent registered public accounting firm, whether our audited financial statements should be included in our annual reports on Form 10-K;
- monitoring the integrity of our financial statements and our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements as they relate to our financial statements and accounting matters;
- preparing the audit committee report required by the Exchange Act to be included in our annual proxy statement;
- · reviewing all related party transactions for potential conflict of interest situations and determining whether to approve any such transaction; and
- reviewing and discussing quarterly earnings press releases.

All audit and non-audit services, other than *de minimis* non-audit services, to be provided to us by our independent registered public accounting firm must be approved in advance by our audit committee following the procedures described above in *Audit Committee Pre-approval Policy and Procedures* under Proposal 2.

Compensation and Talent Development Committee

Mr. Crowley, Dr. Cohen, Ms. Dorsa and Dr. Formela served on the compensation committee in 2021, with Mr. Crowley being appointed to the compensation committee and as chair beginning January 19, 2021. Our board of directors has determined that each member of the compensation committee is "independent" as defined in the applicable Nasdaq rules. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, the compensation committee met eight times. The compensation committee's responsibilities include, but are not limited to:

- annually reviewing and recommending to the board of directors the corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of our chief executive officer;
- evaluating the performance of our chief executive officer in light of such corporate goals and objectives and, based on such evaluation, recommending to the board of directors the cash and equity compensation of our chief executive officer;
- annually establishing goals and objectives, evaluating their performance against such goals and objectives, and determining the cash and equity compensation of all employees holding the level of senior vice president and above, other than our chief executive officer;
- providing oversight of management's decision regarding the compensation of all other members of senior management beyond the chief executive officer, executive officers and senior vice presidents;
- · reviewing, establishing and implementing our overall management compensation strategies, policies and plans;
- reviewing and overseeing our employee compensation and employee benefit programs;
- reviewing and approving our policies and procedures for the grant of equity-based awards under our approved equity plans;
- · reviewing and recommending to the board of directors the compensation of our non-employee directors;

- · preparing the compensation committee report, as required by SEC rules, to be included in our annual proxy statement;
- evaluating and assessing potential and current compensation advisors to the committee in accordance with the independence standards identified in the applicable Nasdaq rules;
- · retaining and approving the compensation of any compensation advisors;
- reviewing and approving the retention or termination of, and obtaining the advice of, any consulting firm or outside advisor engaged to assist the committee in the evaluation of compensation matters;
- periodically reviewing and revising a peer group of companies against which to assess the Company's executive and non-employee director compensation program and practices; and
- reviewing the results of any stockholder proposals or votes related to executive compensation.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During 2021, the members of our compensation committee included Mr. Crowley, Dr. Cohen, Ms. Dorsa and Dr. Formela. None of the members of our compensation committee was an employee or executive officer of Intellia during 2021, a former executive officer of Intellia, or had any other relationships with us requiring disclosure herein. None of our executive officers currently serves or has served as a director or a member of the compensation committee (or other committee serving an equivalent function) of any other entity whose executive officers served as one of our directors or a member of the compensation committee.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

During 2021, Dr. Verwiel, Mr. Crowley, Dr. Goodman and Dr. Keresty served on the nominating and corporate governance committee, which was chaired by Dr. Verwiel. Mr. Crowley and Dr. Keresty were appointed to the nominating and corporate governance committee on January 19, 2021 and April 9, 2021, respectively. Our board of directors has determined that each member of the nominating and corporate governance committee is "independent" as defined in the applicable Nasdaq rules. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, the nominating and corporate governance committee met six times. The nominating and corporate governance committee's responsibilities include:

- developing and recommending to the board of directors, on an annual basis, the requisite skills and criteria for board and committee membership, as well as the composition of the board as a whole;
- reviewing the composition of the board of directors to ensure that it is composed of members containing the appropriate skills and expertise to advise us:
- establishing procedures for identifying and evaluating board of director candidates, including nominees recommended by stockholders;
- identifying individuals qualified to become members of the board of directors;
- recommending to the board of directors the persons to be nominated for election as directors at each annual meeting of stockholders and, in the
 case of board vacancies, recommending director nominees to the board to fill any such vacancies;
- · recommending to the board of directors the directors to serve on each of the board's committees;
- developing and recommending to the board of directors a set of corporate governance guidelines, and periodically reviewing and making recommendations to the board of directors regarding such corporate governance guidelines;
- overseeing the assessment of the effectiveness of our board of directors and its committees;
- in regard to the consideration of any director candidates recommended by stockholders, providing a description of the material elements of a
 policy for considering any such director candidates, which shall include, but need not be limited to, a statement as to whether the committee will
 consider director candidates recommended by stockholders, and describing the procedures to be followed by stockholders in submitting such
 recommendations:
- · reviewing all stockholder proposals submitted to the Company and their compliance with existing corporate requirements;
- assisting in the development of and recommending to the board of directors policies and programs with respect to environmental, health, safety, social responsibility and governance matters and monitoring the Company's performance in implementing such policies and programs;
- · evaluating the directors and executive officers' external commitments as it relates to independence-related requirements;
- overseeing the board's succession planning; and

overseeing the onboarding process and continuing education of the board members.

Board and Committee Meetings Attendance

The full board of directors met eight times during 2021. During 2021, each member of the board of directors attended virtually or in person or participated in 75% or more of the aggregate of (i) the total number of meetings of the board of directors (held during the period for which such person has been a director) and (ii) the total number of meetings held by all committees of the board of directors on which such person served (during the periods that such person served).

Director Attendance at Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Directors are responsible for attending the annual meeting of stockholders. All members of the board of directors then in office attended the annual meeting of stockholders on June 23, 2021.

Stock Ownership Guidelines and Policy on Trading, Pledging and Hedging of Company Stock

The compensation committee has implemented stock ownership and retention guidelines (the "Guidelines") for our directors and executive officers ("Covered Individuals") to ensure they have a long-term equity stake in Intellia, to closely align the interests of both the directors and executive officers to those of our stockholders and to further our commitment to corporate governance.

Under the Guidelines, directors and executive officers must maintain stock ownership at a level of at least three times their annual retainer (excluding any committee retainers) or base salary, as applicable. For purposes of the Guidelines, stock ownership includes the value of common stock (including shares owned upon the vesting of restricted stock units) and 65% of the value of unvested restricted stock units subject to time-based vesting. No stock options or unvested restricted stock units that are subject to performance-based vesting are counted toward stock ownership for purposes of the Guidelines.

Covered Individuals are expected to make a good faith effort to reach the level of ownership specified in the Guidelines by the later of the last day of (1) the 2027 fiscal year or (2) the year containing the fifth anniversary of the individual becoming a Covered Individual. Until the Covered Individual meets the required equity ownership under the Guidelines, he or she is required to retain i) 50% of all Company shares acquired during the phase-in period (net of shares withheld to cover the exercise price or tax withholding obligations); or ii) 100% of all shares he or she acquires after the phase-in period (net of shares withheld to cover the exercise price or tax withholding obligations). All Covered Individuals have either reached compliance or are within their phase-in period.

Certain transactions in our securities (such as purchases and sales of publicly traded put and call options, and short sales) create a heightened compliance risk or could create the appearance of misalignment between management and stockholders. In addition, securities held in a margin account or pledged as collateral may be sold without consent if the owner fails to meet a margin call or defaults on the loan, thus creating the risk that a sale may occur at a time when an officer or director is aware of material, non-public information or otherwise is not permitted to trade in company securities. Our insider trading policy expressly prohibits our directors, executive officers, and all employees and their respective affiliates from engaging in short sales, which are the sale of securities of the Company that are not owned by such individual or entity at the time of the sale. Further, our directors, executive officers, and all other employees and their respective affiliates may not engage in any purchase or sale of puts, calls or other derivative securities of the Company or any derivative securities that provide the economic equivalent of ownership of any of our securities or an opportunity, direct or indirect, to profit from any change in the value of our securities, or other hedging transactions. In addition, our insider trading policy expressly prohibits our directors, executive officers, and all other employees and their respective affiliates from borrowing against Company securities held in a margin account or, without prior approval from the audit committee (which will only be granted if the director, executive officer or employee can demonstrate the financial capacity to repay the loan without depending on the pledged securities), pledging our securities as collateral for a loan.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics that applies to all members of our board of directors, and to all our officers and employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, controller, or persons performing similar functions. A current copy of the code is posted on the corporate governance section of our website, which is located at http://ir.intelliatx.com/corporate-governance/documents-charters. If we make any substantive amendments to, or grant any waivers from, the code of business conduct and ethics for any officer or director, we will disclose the nature of such amendment or waiver on our website or in a current report on Form 8-K.

Board Leadership Structure and Board's Role in Risk Oversight

Currently, the role of chairperson of the board of directors is separated from the role of chief executive officer. We believe that separating these positions allows our chief executive officer to focus on our day-to-day business, while allowing our chairperson of the

board of directors to lead the board of directors in its fundamental role of providing strategic advice to, and independent oversight of, management. Our board of directors recognizes the time, effort and energy that the chief executive officer is required to devote to his position in the current business environment, as well as the commitment required to serve as our chairperson, particularly as the board of directors' oversight responsibilities continue to evolve and expand. While our second amended and restated by-laws and amended and restated corporate governance guidelines do not require that our chairperson and chief executive officer positions be separate, our board of directors believes that having separate positions is the appropriate leadership structure for us at this time and demonstrates our commitment to good corporate governance.

Risk is inherent with every business, and how well a business manages risk can ultimately determine its success. We face a number of risks, including risks relating to our financial condition, research, development and clinical activities, operations, manufacturing, talent, strategic direction, cybersecurity, legal compliance and intellectual property ("IP"). Management is responsible for the day-to-day management of risks we face, while our board of directors, as a whole and through its committees, has responsibility for the oversight of risk management. In its risk oversight role, our board of directors has the responsibility to satisfy itself that the risk management processes designed and implemented by management are adequate and functioning as designed.

The role of the board of directors in overseeing the management of our risks is conducted primarily through committees of the board of directors, as disclosed in the descriptions of each of the committees above and in the charters of each of the committees. The full board of directors (or the appropriate board committee in the case of risks that are under the purview of a particular committee) discusses with management our major risk exposures, their potential impact on us, and the steps we take to manage them. When a board committee is responsible for evaluating and overseeing the management of a particular risk or risks, the chairperson of the relevant committee is responsible for reporting on the discussion to the full board of directors during the next board meeting. This enables the board of directors and its committees to coordinate the risk oversight role, particularly with respect to risk interrelationships.

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Responsibilities

We are a leading, clinical-stage, genome editing company focused on developing potentially curative therapies leveraging CRISPR-based technologies. Our objective is to build a sustainable company delivering on our commitment to the patients we serve, our employees, our community, our environment, and our stockholders. We believe that we have a corporate responsibility to foster a diverse and collaborative environment and to have a positive impact on our employee community and the communities in which we work and live. We believe the success of our mission largely depends on our ability to attract and retain highly skilled employees. We support programs and initiatives that foster employee engagement, diversity, equity and inclusion, growth development, and environmental and social responsibility, while providing competitive compensation and benefits. We believe that focusing on those programs will attract a diverse population of employees who will bring innovative ideas and creative solutions that will enable the achievement of our goals.

Our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for overseeing the Company's assessment, strategy and management of ESG responsibilities. The Company has prepared an ESG report which is available on the Company's website in the "Investors & Media" section at www.intelliatx.com.

Our Culture and Values

Our culture is rooted in four core values, with the overarching theme of the commitment we have made to our community and each other to act as one team to explore new ways of treating disease, disrupt the status quo, and deliver life-changing therapies:

One:	Respect for individuals and our unique qualities, strengths, and experiences Our single-minded determination to excel and succeed together Trust and rely on every one of us to triumph	Explore: Seek new ways to tackle disease Open our minds to be free from assumptions and be open to new ideas Stay curious and push boundaries Think of new ways to overcome obstacles
Diamon		
Disrup		Deliver:
	Think courageously to create a better future Defy conformity and interrogate the status quo Challenge thoughts and use skepticism and imagination to develop innovative solutions	 Focus on the objective and your determination to complete the task Advance relentlessly and maintain high standards Stay accountable and pull your weight

We believe these values help us build an organization where talented people from all backgrounds can make meaningful contributions to our commitment to patients and also grow their careers. Our core values guide how we work together and deliver on our mission.

We bring our values to life with programs and policies that foster and enhance our culture. Examples include:

- All of our employees actively participate in events planned by our cultural ambassador program, fostering a grassroots approach to engagement
 with support and guidance from our executive leadership team. Our cultural ambassador programs aim to align our workforce around our core
 values, and consist of the following themes: diversity, equity and inclusion; continuous learning; wellness and sustainability; social events; and
 community outreach.
- Recognition programs, including annual values awards, which recognize employees who embody our core values and make strong contributions
 to our culture.
- Talent management and development strategies that focus on regular coaching and feedback, collaboration and inclusivity to foster strong partnerships.
- Regular all-company meetings (or Town Halls) to discuss key company updates, achievements and projects, and answer questions or concerns from our employees, which have been especially important to continue engagement during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Our Employees

Diversity and Inclusion:

As we continue to grow as an organization, we remain dedicated to championing a culture that celebrates diversity and fosters a collaboration inside the organization. We are committed to increasing representation of under-represented minorities at Intellia, particularly in leadership roles. As of March 31, 2022, our team of Senior and Executive Vice Presidents is diverse in both gender and ethnicity, as 45% of that group is female and 27% of that same leadership group is ethnically diverse. Across our workforce, our employee population consists of 56% women and 44% men and comes from more than 25 countries of origin. Although the COVID-19 pandemic prevented us from doing so in person, we continue to celebrate and educate about our diversity through virtual employee events, awareness campaigns, employee resource groups, and other programs. Our recruiting team underwent bias awareness training, and we have sponsored career fairs and conferences at organizations focused on underrepresented minorities to ensure that we continue to attract the best talent and increase representation.

Growth and Development:

Investing in our employees' personal and career growth is an important priority at Intellia. We aim to provide a wide range of on-the-job development opportunities, as well as in-person, virtual, and off-site training seminars and tools. Of particular importance is fostering of leaders with our "Manager Bootcamp" series, which aims to refine the leadership and managerial skills of our managers. Additionally, we offer seminars and tools to our employees focused on career development within the organization. As part of these initiatives, we conduct an annual development program for our employees to work with their managers to set professional development goals and an action plan. We also have an internal mentorship program for our research and development employees, who can work with more senior employees to learn new skills. Our goal is to ensure that our employees have the skills necessary to meet their current responsibilities optimally, as well as develop new skills that they may need in the future.

Compensation, Benefits, Health and Wellness:

We offer a comprehensive compensation package, which includes a competitive salary, health, dental, vision and disability insurance, and a 401(k) match. In addition, employees generally receive Company equity upon the start of their employment with the Company and on an annual basis, and can also participate in our employee stock purchase program. We also have a tuition reimbursement program and sponsor immigration applications as appropriate. To ensure engagement and well-being, our employees have access to our Employee Assistance Program, a free onsite gym, and Company-sponsored employee-led clubs and teams. We are committed to equitable pay, irrespective of gender, race, ethnicity, or sexual orientation, and conduct comprehensive pay equity analyses on a semi-annual basis. Since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, we have taken a flexible approach to supporting our employees in managing their work and personal responsibilities, with a focus on employee wellbeing.

Our Community

We take our responsibility as a member of our local community seriously. Through our cultural ambassadors program and other initiatives, our employees volunteer to serve and fundraise for homeless shelters, community beautification projects, and educational initiatives, particularly STEM mentoring initiatives, in underserved communities. In addition, we have partnered with the United Negro College Fund and established an Intellia scholarship for college students from under-represented groups pursuing life science majors.

Our Environment

Although we currently have a small ecological footprint, we believe that we can make a difference in protecting our environment. To reduce pollution and avoid traffic congestion, we provide transportation benefits to our employees to encourage the use of non-automobile-based transportation, such as public transportation, cycling, and walking. In addition, we have on-site recycling and composting programs in all our locations. As part of our environmental and sustainability efforts, we have replaced plastic utensils and single-use drinkware with reusable and washable cutlery and glassware.

For more information about our ESG initiatives, please refer to our inaugural ESG Report, available on the "Investors & Media" section of our website at www.intelliatx.com.

Communication with the Directors of Intellia

Any interested party with concerns about our company may report such concerns to the board of directors, or the chairperson of our board of directors and nominating and corporate governance committee, by submitting a written communication to the attention of such director at the following address:

c/o Intellia Therapeutics, Inc. 40 Erie Street Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139 United States

You may submit your concern anonymously or confidentially by postal mail. You may also indicate whether you are a stockholder, customer, supplier or other interested party.

A copy of any such written communication may also be forwarded to Intellia's legal counsel and a copy of such communication may be retained for a reasonable period of time. The recipient director may discuss the matter with Intellia's legal counsel, with independent advisors, with non-management directors, or with Intellia's management, or may take other action or no action as the director determines in good faith, using reasonable judgment, and applying his or her own discretion.

Communications may be forwarded to other directors if, for example, they relate to important substantive matters and include suggestions or comments that may be important for other directors to know. In general, communications relating to corporate governance and long-term corporate strategy are more likely to be forwarded than communications relating to ordinary business affairs, personal grievances, and matters as to which we may receive repetitive or duplicative communications.

The audit committee oversees the procedures for the receipt, retention, and treatment of complaints received by Intellia regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or audit matters, and the confidential, anonymous submission by employees or other persons of concerns regarding questionable accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters. Intellia has established a toll-free telephone number and email for reporting concerns regarding these and other compliance matters. Reports can be made anonymously and will be forwarded to the chairperson of the audit committee of the board of directors and Intellia's chief compliance officer.

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Overview

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis describes the Company's executive compensation program as it relates to the following "named executive officers."

- John M. Leonard, M.D., our president and chief executive officer
- Glenn G. Goddard, our executive vice president, chief financial officer and treasurer
- James Basta, J.D., our executive vice president, general counsel and corporate secretary
- David Lebwohl, M.D., our executive vice president, chief medical officer
- · Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D., our executive vice president, chief scientific officer

The following discussion should be read together with the compensation tables and related disclosures set forth below.

Executive Summary and Company Background

We are a leading clinical-stage genome editing company, focused on developing novel, potentially curative therapeutics using CRISPR/Cas9 technology. CRISPR/Cas9, an acronym for Clustered, Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats ("CRISPR")/CRISPR associated 9 ("Cas9"), is a technology for genome editing, the process of altering selected sequences of genomic deoxyribonucleic acid ("DNA"). To realize the transformative potential of CRISPR/Cas9-based technologies, we are building a full-spectrum genome editing company, by leveraging our modular platform, to advance *in vivo* and *ex vivo* therapies for diseases with high unmet need. For our *in vivo* programs to address genetic diseases, we use intravenously administered CRISPR as the therapy, in which our proprietary delivery technology enables highly precise editing of disease-causing genes directly within specific target tissues. For our *ex vivo* programs to address immuno-oncology and autoimmune diseases, we use CRISPR to create the therapy by engineering cells outside of the body. Our deep scientific, technical and clinical development experience, along with our robust IP portfolio, enables us to unlock broad therapeutic applications of CRISPR/Cas9 and related technologies to create new classes of genetic medicine.

We continue to advance our platform's modular solutions and research efforts on genome editing technologies as well as delivery and cell engineering capabilities to generate additional development candidates.

Our mission is to transform the lives of people with severe diseases by developing curative genome editing treatments. We believe we can deliver on our mission and provide long-term benefits for all of our stakeholders by focusing on four key elements:

- Develop curative CRISPR/Cas9-based medicines;
- Advance our science;
- · Be the best place to make therapies; and
- Focus on long-term sustainability.

We are cognizant that, to be successful, we need to recruit and retain executives that have excellent scientific, business and functional expertise, broad experience in the biopharmaceutical industry, and capability to produce desired strategic and operational results. Accordingly, our executive officers' compensation accounts for the individual's expertise and experience, as well as his or her contribution to our Company's objectives for the year based on our operational and individual performance metrics, and the need to incent long-term execution. This approach to executive compensation is aligned with the interests of our stockholders because it ensures that we can attract and retain key leaders while ensuring that each is incentivized to deliver optimal results for the Company.

Objectives of the Compensation Programs

The goals of our compensation programs are to ensure that the interests of our employees, including our named executive officers, are aligned with the interests of our stockholders and our business goals, and that the total compensation paid to each of our named executive officers is fair, reasonable and competitive.

We believe a significant portion of compensation should align directly with shareholder interests (i.e. "Pay For Performance"). To achieve that, we provide our executive officers with a significant portion of their compensation through equity awards, to promote the maximization of stockholder value by aligning the interests of our executive officers and stockholders, as well as cash incentive compensation based upon the achievement of significant corporate objectives for the year, including our operational and individual

performance metrics. Our programs were specifically designed to align named executive officer and stockholder interests as the amount of compensation a named executive officer receives will vary based on our corporate performance against objective corporate goals. In addition, our named executive officers derive value from equity compensation from the appreciation in the price of shares of our common stock, which in the future is likely to fluctuate based on our corporate performance in relation to corporate goals.

The Company, including its board of directors and its compensation committee, considers a myriad of factors in making compensation decisions. Among these factors are the current and expected local, national and international market conditions; compensation practices of peer biopharmaceutical companies; the Company's market value and financial position; and the talent market, including the availability of, and demand for, particular skills and expertise. We expect that we will continue to take these factors into account as we make compensation decisions in 2022 and beyond.

Components and Objectives of the Compensation Program

The compensation programs for our executive officers are designed to provide the following:

Compensation Element	Objective	Features
Base salary	To attract and retain highly skilled executives.	Fixed component of pay to provide financial stability, based on responsibilities, experience and individual contributions.
Annual cash incentive program	To promote and reward the achievement of key short-term strategic and business goals of the Company as well as individual performance; and motivate and attract executives.	Variable component of pay based on annual corporate and individual quantitative and qualitative goals.
Equity incentive compensation	To encourage executives and other employees to focus on long-term Company performance; promote retention; and reward outstanding Company and individual performance.	Typically subject to multi-year vesting based on continued service, and are primarily in the form of stock options and restricted stock units, the value of which depends on the performance of our common stock price, in order to align employee interests with those of our stockholders over the longer-term.

2021 Say-on-Pay Vote

At our 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "2021 Annual Meeting"), our Say-on-Pay proposal was approved, on an advisory basis, with approximately 97.8% support.

While we view the strong support expressed in the Say-on-Pay proposal as a general endorsement of our compensation program, as part of our commitment to stockholder engagement and responsiveness, after the 2021 Annual Meeting, we engaged with select top stockholders to discuss their perspective regarding, among other things, our executive compensation program, including our decisions and disclosures, and other ESG topics. Throughout 2021, we reached out to select top stockholders to specifically request feedback on these matters, and we met via teleconference with all stockholders who expressed interest and availability to provide feedback. Our Company was represented by certain of our named executive officers, along with other senior managers and employees in our legal and investor relations functions. This stockholder outreach supplements our standard practice of engaging with stockholders on a regular basis as part of our investor relations program, during which we are open to discuss any topic or issue raised by our stockholders, including, but not limited to, our business strategy, status of research and development programs, our executive compensation program and general corporate ESG matters. We shared the feedback received with our board of directors and its committees throughout the year. We value feedback from our stockholders and continue to evaluate other feedback received to determine what actions are appropriate and in the best interest of our stockholders and the Company, including the timing and scope of any potential actions.

Compensation Program Governance

In addition to our direct compensation elements, the following features of our compensation program are designed to align our executive team with stockholder interests and with market best practices:

What We Do

- ✓ Maintain an industry-specific peer group for benchmarking compensation
- ✓ Target compensation based on market norms
- ✓ Deliver executive compensation primarily through variable, at-risk and performance-based pay
- ✓ Offer market-competitive benefits to executives that are consistent with the rest of our employees
- Consult with an independent compensation consultant on current compensation data, levels and practices for our industry, location and corporate characteristics
- Maintain stock ownership guidelines in order to align executive officer interests with those of stockholders
- Stockholder outreach with thoughtful consideration of feedback received
- ✓ Caps on payment under our annual cash incentive plan

What We Don't Do

- \times Allow short sales or margin calls of equity or non-approved hedging or pledging
- × Allow for re-pricing of stock options without stockholder approval
- × Provide excessive perquisites
- × Provide supplemental executive retirement plans
- × Provide tax gross-up payments for any change in control payments
- × Provide cash or equity severance compensation upon a change in control unless employment is terminated (i.e., requires a "double trigger")

Role of the Compensation and Talent Development Committee in Setting Executive Compensation

Our board of directors and its compensation committee annually review the compensation for each of our executive officers in relation to our peers (see "Defining and Comparing Compensation to Market Benchmarks" section below). In setting executive cash compensation (base salaries and incentive cash bonuses) and granting equity incentive awards, the compensation committee and the board of directors consider compensation for comparable positions in the market; the qualifications, experience and historical compensation levels of our executives; each officer's individual performance as compared to our expectations and objectives; our desire to motivate the executive to achieve short- and long-term results that are in the best interests of our stockholders; and the desire and need to ensure the executive's long-term commitment to our Company. The compensation committee and the board of directors generally target compensation for each executive officer to be competitive with the compensation provided by our peers for the same or a similar position. They use independent third-party benchmark analytics as a reference point to inform compensation decisions on each executive, including the mix of base salary, bonus and long-term incentives.

Our board of directors or our compensation committee has historically determined the compensation of each of our executives. Our compensation committee typically reviews and discusses management's proposed compensation with the chief executive officer for all executives other than the chief executive officer. Based on those discussions and its discretion, taking into account the factors noted above as well as considerations specific to each executive officer (including, but not limited to, each executive officers' experience, education, and responsibilities), the compensation committee then approves, or recommends to the board of directors for approval, the compensation for each executive officer. Compensation determinations for our executive officers are made without members of management present. In 2021, the compensation committee continued to retain the services of Aon's Human Capital Solutions practice, a division of Aon plc ("Aon", formerly known as Radford), as its external compensation consultant, and the board of directors and the compensation committee considered Aon's data, analysis and recommendation on certain compensation matters as they deemed appropriate before ultimately setting compensation for the Company's executive officers.

Role of the Compensation Consultant

We develop our compensation programs after reviewing publicly available compensation data and subscription survey data for our peer group, provided by Aon. For 2021, our compensation committee continued to engage Aon as its independent compensation consultant, to advise on executive compensation matters including: overall compensation program design (including our

performance-based equity award program), peer group development and updates, and director and executive compensation benchmarking. Aon reports directly to our compensation committee. Our compensation committee has assessed the independence of Aon consistent with Nasdaq listing standards and has concluded that the engagement of Aon does not raise any conflict of interest.

Defining and Comparing Compensation to Market Benchmarks

In evaluating the total compensation of our named executive officers, our compensation committee, using information provided by Aon, establishes a peer group of publicly traded companies in the biopharmaceutical and biotechnology industries that is selected based on a balance of the following criteria:

- companies whose location, strategic focus, number of employees, development stage and market capitalization are similar, though not necessarily identical, to ours;
- · companies with similar executive positions to ours;
- companies against which we believe we compete for executive and employee talent; and
- public companies generally based in the United States ("U.S."), whose compensation and financial data are available in proxy statements or through widely available compensation surveys.

Based on these criteria, our peer group for 2021, as approved by our compensation committee, was comprised of the following 20 companies:

Adverum Biotechnologies, Inc.	Editas Medicine, Inc.	REGENXBIO, Inc.
Atara Biotherapeutics, Inc.	Fate Therapeutics, Inc.	Rubius Therapeutics, Inc.
AVROBIO, Inc.	Generation Bio Co.	Sangamo Therapeutics, Inc.
Beam Therapeutics Inc.	Homology Medicines, Inc.	Translate Bio, Inc.
Cellectis S.A.	Moderna, Inc.	Voyager Therapeutics, Inc.
CRISPR Therapeutics AG	Nkarta, Inc.	Xencor, Inc.
Denali Therapeutics, Inc.	Precision BioSciences, Inc.	

We believe that the compensation practices of our 2021 peer group provided us with appropriate compensation data for evaluating the competitiveness of the compensation of our named executive officers during 2021.

Notwithstanding any potential similarities with the 2021 peer group, due to the nature of our business, we compete for executive talent with many public companies that are larger and more established than we are or that possess greater resources than we do, and with smaller private companies that may be able to offer greater equity compensation potential. Our compensation committee and board of directors generally targets both cash and long-term incentive compensation for our executive officers at approximately the 50th-60th percentile of our peer group. Although the compensation committee and the board of directors target compensation per the above, they also consider other criteria, including market factors, the experience level of the executive and the executive's performance against established Company goals, in determining variations to this general target range.

Other Key Performance Factors in Determining Executive Compensation

As the biopharmaceutical industry is characterized by a very long product development cycle, including a lengthy research and development period and a rigorous approval phase involving clinical studies and governmental regulatory and marketing approval, many of the traditional benchmarking metrics, such as product sales, revenues and profits are inappropriate for an early stage biopharmaceutical company such as Intellia. Instead, the specific performance factors our compensation committee considers when determining the compensation of our named executive officers include:

- initiation and progress of preclinical and clinical studies for our product candidates;
- key research and development achievements;
- · establishment and maintenance of key strategic relationships and new business initiatives, including financings; and
- development of organizational capabilities to manage, protect and sustain our operational and strategic execution and growth.

These performance factors are considered by our compensation committee and board of directors in connection with our annual performance reviews described below and are a critical component in the determination of annual cash and equity incentive awards for our executives.

2021 Base Salary

We provide base salaries to our named executive officers to compensate them with a fair and competitive base level of compensation for services rendered during the year. Prior to making its decision, our compensation committee typically reviews and discusses management's proposed compensation with the chief executive officer for all executives other than the chief executive officer.

Effective January 1, 2021, our compensation committee approved merit increases in base salary for each of our then-serving named executive officers. The table below sets forth the 2021 base salary, 2020 base salary and the adjustments to base salary for each of our named executive officers for 2021:

Name	2020 Base Salary (\$)	2021 Base Salary (\$)	% Increase over 2020
John M. Leonard, M.D.	580,000	600,000	3.4%
Glenn G. Goddard	407,000	419,200	3.0 %
James Basta, J.D. (1)	N/A	420,000	N/A
David Lebwohl, M.D.	445,000	458,300	3.0 %
Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D.	420,000	441,000	5.0 %

(1) Mr. Basta was appointed as executive vice president, general counsel and corporate secretary effective June 23, 2021.

2021 Annual Cash Incentive Program

Our compensation committee aims to determine an appropriate mix of cash payments and equity incentive awards to incentivize each executive to meet short- and long-term goals and objectives. In December 2020, our compensation committee approved the annual performance-based cash incentive program for 2021, including the opportunity for eligible participants to achieve incentive awards above established bonus targets based on the Company's performance against 2021 corporate goals and individual performance towards corporate goals.

The table below shows the target award under the annual performance-based cash incentive program as a percentage of each named executive officer's annual base salary in 2021, the target cash award opportunity in dollars for 2021 and the actual cash bonus payments to our named executive officers for 2021 performance, which were paid in February 2022, as well as the actual bonus payment as a percentage of the target award opportunity. The details regarding the determination of these cash bonus awards are discussed below.

	2021 Target Cash Incentive Award (% of 2021	2021 Target Cash Incentive Award	2021 Cash Incentive Award	Actual Cash Incentive Award Payment (% of 2021 Target Cash Incentive Award	
Name	Base Salary)	Opportunity (\$)	Payment (\$)	Opportunity)	
John M. Leonard, M.D.	55%	330,000	462,000	140 %	
Glenn G. Goddard	40 %	167,680	234,752	140 %	
James Basta, J.D.	40 %	168,000	235,200	140 %	
David Lebwohl, M.D.	40 %	183,320	269,480	147 %	
Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D.	40 %	176,400	259,308	147 %	

Under the 2021 annual performance-based cash incentive program, awards were determined by the following formula:

Base Salary X	X	Target Bonus Percentage	X	Start Date Proration (if any)	X	Individual Achievement	X	Corporate Achievement	= Annual Performance-Based Cash Bonus Earned
---------------	---	----------------------------	---	-------------------------------------	---	---------------------------	---	--------------------------	---

Dr. Leonard's 2021 bonus was entirely based on his leadership and execution in ensuring that the Company met its corporate goals for the year. Mr. Goddard, Mr. Basta and Drs. Lebwohl and Sepp-Lorenzino's individual performance toward corporate goals relevant to their functions in 2021 was considered in determining their overall performance and final award. The compensation committee determines each named executive officer's individual performance by considering the performance relative to the executive officer's functional attainments and impact on corporate goals, as well as other factors related to conformance with the Company's core values and policies and the expected competencies and skills for the executive's job.

Based on these considerations, the compensation committee determined that, based on their respective overall performances, Mr. Goddard achieved 140% of his target, Mr. Basta achieved 140% of his target, Dr. Lebwohl achieved 147% of his target and Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino achieved 147% of her target.

In making its determination regarding awards under the 2021 annual performance-based cash incentive program, our compensation committee considered our success against our 2021 corporate goals. The 2021 corporate goals approved by our board of directors and compensation committee and the relative weightings assigned to each goal at the beginning of the year, as approved by our compensation committee, were as follows:

2021 Corporate Goal Categories	Weighting
Develop Curative CRISPR-Based Medicines	60%
Advance our Science	20%
Build for Long-Term Sustainability	14%
Be the Best Place to Make Therapies	6%

The compensation committee determined that overall for 2021, the Company achieved 140% of the corporate goals established.

Specific achievements that the compensation committee and the board of directors reviewed to support the actual cash bonus payments set forth above, included the following:

Develop Curative CRISPR-Based Medicines:

- We demonstrated clinical activity in first-in-human trial for NTLA-2001 for the treatment of transthyretin ("ATTR") amyloidosis, the first-ever systemically delivered CRISPR-based therapeutic.
- We expanded our ongoing Phase 1 study of NTLA-2001 to include adults with ATTR amyloidosis with cardiomyopathy.
- We dosed our first patient with NTLA-2002 for the treatment of hereditary angioedema ("HAE"), the first-ever single dose investigational treatment being explored in clinical trials for the potential to continuously reduce kallikrein activity and prevent attacks in people living with HAF
- We received FDA acceptance of our investigational new drug application for NTLA-5001, for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia ("AML").
- We nominated four new development candidates NTLA-3001, our gene insertion development candidate for alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency ("AATD")-associated lung disease; a *Factor 9* gene insertion development candidate to advance for hemophilia B; NTLA-6001, our first *ex vivo* allogeneic CAR-T candidate for CD30+ expressing hematologic cancers; and NTLA-2003, an *in vivo* knockout candidate for AATD-associated liver disease.

Advance our Science:

- We demonstrated lipid nanoparticle-based delivery as a more efficient multiplex gene editing approach for engineered cell therapies as compared
 to electroporation.
- We demonstrated the promise of our proprietary non-viral delivery system for *in vivo* genome editing of tissues outside the liver, with applications to inherited blood disorders such as sickle cell disease.

Build for Long-Term Sustainability:

- We closed a \$690 million public offering of common stock, enabling us to end 2021 with a strong cash position of \$1.1 billion in cash, cash
 equivalents and marketable securities.
- We launched a new universal CAR-T cell therapy company (AvenCell Therapeutics, Inc.) in collaboration with Blackstone Life Sciences and Cellex Cell Professionals GmbH, which combines clinical-stage universal CAR-T platforms with Intellia's differentiated allogeneic cell engineering platform to develop therapies for immune-oncology and autoimmune disease.

- We continued to secure supply chain and relevant materials and systems to support our current and projected clinical trials for our systemically delivered and engineered cell therapies.
- We continue to protect our innovation and nominated product candidates by executing on our IP strategy.

Be the Best Place to Make Therapies:

- We attracted and retained an engaged and skilled workforce by executing on employee survey action plans and our talent development strategy in accordance with approved timelines.
- Our recruiting team underwent bias awareness training, and we have sponsored career fairs and conferences at organizations focused on underrepresented minorities to ensure we continue to attract the best talent and increase representation.
- In 2022, we are expanding our diversity, equity and inclusion efforts with the launch of Employee Resource Groups ("ERGs"). ERGs are voluntary, employee-led groups focused on fostering a diverse, inclusive workplace aligned with ONE Intellia. They are led and participated in by employees who share a characteristic, whether it's gender, ethnicity, religious affiliation, lifestyle or interest. The groups exist to provide support and help for personal or career development and to create a safe space where employees can bring their whole selves to the table. Allies are also invited to join the ERG to support their colleagues.

Long-Term Incentives

Our long-term incentive program is designed to:

- reward demonstrated leadership and performance;
- align our named executive officers' interests with those of our stockholders;
- · retain our named executive officers through the term of the awards;
- maintain competitive levels of executive compensation; and
- motivate our named executive officers for outstanding future performance.

The market for qualified and talented executives in the biopharmaceutical industry is highly competitive and we compete for talent with many companies that have greater resources than we do. Accordingly, we believe equity compensation is a crucial component of any competitive executive compensation package we offer.

All equity awards to our executive officers are reviewed and approved by our compensation committee or, in the case of awards to our president and chief executive officer, by the board of directors, and, other than awards to new hires or for promotions, are typically granted annually. Equity awards may vary among our executive officers based on their functional responsibilities and annual performance assessments. In addition, our compensation committee reviews all components of an executive's compensation to ensure that his or her total compensation is consistent with our overall philosophy and objectives.

In 2021, we evolved our equity program and the compensation committee shifted from granting equity awards primarily in the form of stock options to granting long-term incentive equity using two vehicles, stock options and restricted stock units ("RSUs"). The compensation committee structured the mix of equity vehicles and the relative weight assigned to each type of award to motivate stock price appreciation over the long term through stock options, which deliver value only if the stock price increases, and to reduce the dilutive effect of equity awards while ensuring some amount of value delivery through the restricted stock units, which are complementary because they have upside potential but deliver some value even during periods of stock price or market underperformance, while also reinforcing an ownership culture and commitment to Intellia. We typically grant equity to each of our executive officers upon commencement of employment, annually in conjunction with our review of individual and corporate performance, or, throughout the year, in connection with a promotion, change of significant responsibilities or as a special incentive. Other than for Mr. Basta, who joined the Company in June 2021, the board of directors or compensation committee approved a grant, effective March 2021, of time-vested stock options and time-based restricted stock units to each of our named executive officers in recognition of achievements and performance during 2020 and for expected continued contributions over the equity vesting period. In connection with his hire, effective July 2021, Mr. Basta was granted a new hire stock option award.

All stock options granted by the Company, including those made to our executives, have exercise prices equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant, so that the recipient will not recognize any value from his or her stock options unless our share price increases above the exercise price. Accordingly, this portion of our executive officers' compensation is at risk and is directly aligned with stockholder value creation. In addition, the stock options granted to our executive officers in 2021, including our named executive officers, vest over four years, with 25% of the shares vesting on the first anniversary of either the grant or vesting commencement date, as applicable, and then, as to the remainder, monthly thereafter in substantially equal installments until the fourth anniversary of either the grant or vesting commencement date. Vesting generally ceases upon termination of service to the Company. Generally, the stock options we grant to our executives have a ten-year term and stock option exercise rights typically cease three months following termination of service, except in the case of death or disability, or if otherwise modified pursuant to an agreement approved by the compensation committee or the board of directors as described in the "Benefits and Other Compensation" section below.

RSUs granted in 2021 to our named executive officers generally vest over four years in substantially equal annual installments. Vesting generally ceases upon termination of service to the Company. Prior to the exercise of an option or vesting of a restricted stock unit, the option or restricted stock unit holder does not have any rights as a stockholder with respect to the shares subject to such option or restricted stock unit, including voting rights or the right to receive dividends or dividend equivalents.

The compensation committee regularly considers whether equity awards subject to vesting based on the achievement of specified performance metrics should be incorporated into our annual equity compensation program and, on occasion as appropriate, has granted performance-based equity awards to employees, including some of the named executive officers.

Annual Awards to Named Executive Officers

In March 2021, our compensation committee (and, in the case of Dr. Leonard, the board of directors) approved the grant of stock options and restricted stock units subject to time-based vesting to each of our then-serving named executive officers in recognition of achievements and performance during 2020 and for expected continued contributions over the equity vesting period.

The following table sets forth the number of shares and grant date fair value of common stock issuable upon exercise of time-based stock options and vesting of time-based restricted stock units granted as annual awards to our named executive officers in 2021:

Name	Grant Date	Option Award (# Shares)	Option Award Grant Date Fair Value (\$)	Restricted Stock Unit Award (# Shares)	Restricted Stock Unit Grant Date Fair Value (\$)
John M. Leonard, M.D.	3/3/2021	188,363	6,876,888	31,394	1,811,748
Glenn G. Goddard	3/3/2021	73,500	2,683,389	12,250	706,948
David Lebwohl, M.D.	3/3/2021	76,500	2,792,916	12,750	735,803
Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D.	3/3/2021	84,000	3,066,731	14,000	807,940

Appointment of and Related New Hire Equity Award to James Basta as Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

On June 23, 2021, the board of directors appointed James Basta to serve as our executive vice president, general counsel and corporate secretary. In connection with his appointment, the Company and Mr. Basta entered into an employment agreement that sets forth the material terms of his employment, as described below. In addition to base salary and annual cash incentive opportunity, the compensation committee also granted Mr. Basta an option to purchase 130,000 shares of our common stock. The compensation committee had determined the size of the option grant to Mr. Basta with reference to the median of the market data for comparable positions at its peer companies for new hire awards, and using the then-current 30-day average stock price. Due to a rapid and substantial increase in our stock price between the date that the compensation committee determined the size of the award (which coincided with Mr. Basta's date of hire, June 23, 2021) and the grant date (July 1, 2021, in accordance with the Company's equity award grant policy), the reported value of the award based on SEC reporting rules and applicable accounting authority differs from the amount referenced by the committee in determining the size of the award. The amount, if any, actually realized by Mr. Basta from his new hire stock option will depend on the stock price on the date of exercise after vesting. Currently, 100% of this award is underwater and has no intrinsic value.

The following table sets forth the number of shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of time-based stock options granted to Mr. Basta in connection with his hire in June of 2021:

NameOption Award (# Shares)Option Award Grant Date Fair Value (\$)James Basta, J.D.7/1/2021130,00014,612,637

Benefits and Other Compensation

Other compensation to our executives consists primarily of the broad-based benefits we offer to all regular full-time employees, including medical, dental and vision insurance, medical and dependent care flexible spending accounts, group life and disability insurance, an employee stock purchase plan and a 401(k) plan. Named executive officers are eligible to participate in all our employee benefit plans, in each case on the same basis as other employees. Pursuant to our employee stock purchase plan, employees, including our named executive officers, have an opportunity to purchase our common stock at a discount on a tax-qualified basis through payroll deductions. The employee stock purchase plan is designed to qualify as an "employee stock purchase plan" under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code (the "Code"). The purpose of the employee stock purchase plan is to encourage our employees, including our named executive officers, to become our stockholders and better align their interests with those of our other stockholders.

Our tax-qualified 401(k) plan provides eligible employees with an opportunity to save for retirement on a tax-advantaged deferred basis or as Roth deferrals. All eligible and participating employees receive a 401(k)-match competitive with other companies in our industry. All participants' interests in their deferred contributions and associated Company match are 100% vested when deposited. All contributions are allocated to each participant's individual account and are then invested in selected investment alternatives according to each participant's directions. The retirement plan is intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code.

Currently, we do not view perquisites or other personal benefits as a significant component of our executive compensation program. We currently, and may in the future, provide perquisites to our named executive officers in situations where we believe it is appropriate to assist an individual in the performance of his or her duties, to make him or her more efficient and effective, and for recruitment and retention purposes.

Our named executive officers are entitled, upon a qualifying termination, to certain severance and/or change in control protections pursuant to their employment agreements. See below for a chart detailing the general terms of these protections.

Executive Benefits and Payment upon Termination	Termination by Company without Cause or Voluntary Resignation for Good Reason Not in Connection with a Change in Control	Termination by Company without Cause or Voluntary Resignation for Good Reason within 24 Months Following a Change in Control
John M. Leonard, M.D.		
Cash Severance	12 months of base salary continuation	Lump sum equal to 2x the sum of base salary + target bonus
Acceleration of Equity Awards	Outstanding awards that would have vested in the following 12 months	100% of outstanding awards
Health Care Continuation	12 months continuation	18 months continuation
All other named executive officers		
Cash Severance	9 months of base salary continuation	Lump sum equal to 1.5x the sum of base salary + target bonus
Acceleration of Equity Awards	Outstanding awards that would have vested in the following 9 months	100% of outstanding awards (or 50% of outstanding awards if employed for less than 6 months)
Health Care Continuation	9 months continuation	18 months continuation

We do not offer any defined benefit pension plans or nonqualified deferred compensation arrangements for our employees, including our named executive officers.

Tax and Accounting Considerations

Deductibility of Executive Compensation

Generally, Section 162(m) of the Code ("Section 162(m)") disallows a federal income tax deduction for public corporations of remuneration in excess of \$1 million paid in any fiscal year to certain specified executive officers.

In designing our executive compensation program and determining the compensation of our executive officers, including our named executive officers, the compensation committee considers a variety of factors, including the potential impact of the Section 162(m) deduction limit. However, the compensation committee will not necessarily limit executive compensation to that which is or may be deductible under Section 162(m). The compensation committee will consider various alternatives to preserving the deductibility of compensation payments and benefits to the extent consistent with its compensation goals. The compensation committee believes that our stockholders' interests are best served if its discretion and flexibility in awarding compensation is not restricted, even though some compensation may result in non-deductible compensation expense.

Taxation of "Parachute" Payments

Sections 280G and 4999 of the Code provide that executive officers and directors who hold significant equity interests and certain other service providers may be subject to significant additional taxes if they receive payments or benefits in connection with a change in control of the Company that exceed certain prescribed limits, and that the Company (or a successor) may forfeit a deduction on the amounts subject to this additional tax. We have not agreed to provide any executive officer, including any named executive officer, with a "gross-up" or other reimbursement payment for any tax liability that the executive officer might owe as a result of the application of Sections 280G or 4999 of the Code.

Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code

Section 409A of the Code imposes additional significant taxes in the event that an executive officer, director or service provider receives "deferred compensation" that does not satisfy the requirements of Section 409A of the Code. Although we do not maintain a nonqualified deferred compensation plan, Section 409A of the Code may apply to certain severance arrangements, bonus arrangements and equity awards. We aim to structure all our severance arrangements, bonus arrangements and equity awards in a manner to either avoid the application of Section 409A or, to the extent doing so is not possible, to comply with the applicable requirements of Section 409A of the Code.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

We follow Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 718 ("FASB ASC 718") for our stock-based compensation awards. FASB ASC 718 requires us to measure the compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to our employees and non-employee members of our board of directors, including options to purchase shares of our common stock and other stock awards, based on the grant date "fair value" of these awards. This calculation is performed for accounting purposes and reported in the executive compensation tables required by the federal securities laws, even though the recipient of the awards may never realize any value from their awards.

Compensation Risk Assessment

We believe that our executive compensation program does not encourage excessive or unnecessary risk taking. As described more fully above, we structure our pay to consist of both fixed and variable compensation, particularly in connection with our pay-for-performance compensation philosophy. We believe this structure motivates our executives to produce superior short- and long-term results that are in the best interests of our Company and stockholders in order to attain our ultimate objective of increasing stockholder value, and we have established, and our board of directors and its compensation committee endorse, several controls to address and mitigate compensation-related risk. As a result, we do not believe that our compensation programs are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on us.

EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Executive Officer Compensation

2021 Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth the total compensation awarded to, earned by and paid during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021, December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 for each of our named executive officers.

Name and Principal Position	Year	Salary (\$)	Bonus (\$)(1)	Option Awards (\$)(2)	Stock Awards (\$)(3)	All Other Compensation (\$)(4)	Total (\$)
John M. Leonard, M.D.	2021	600,000	462,000	6,876,888	1,811,748	22,924	9,773,560
President, Chief Executive Officer	2020	580,000	319,000	2,722,890	_	13,786	3,635,676
	2019	559,200	307,560	_	_	37,026	903,786
Glenn G. Goddard	2021	419,200	234,752	2,683,389	706,948	9,060	4,053,349
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer	2020	407,000	146,520	1,001,063	_	8,928	1,563,511
and Treasurer	2019	383,000	153,200	_	_	5,644	541,844
James Basta, J.D. (5)	2021	219,692	235,200	14,612,637	_	5,430	15,072,959
Executive Vice President, General Counsel and							
Corporate Secretary							
David Lebwohl, M.D.	2021	458,300	269,480	2,792,916	735,803	9,060	4,265,559
Executive Vice President, Chief Medical Officer	2020	298,378	228,000	1,549,720		2,690	2,078,788
Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D.	2021	441,000	259,308	3,066,731	807,940	4,770	4,579,749
Executive Vice President, Chief Scientific Officer	2020	420,000	184,800	1,081,148	_	4,578	1,690,526
	2019	239,487	204,086	1,318,695	_	221	1,762,489

- (1) The 2021 amounts reflect the annual bonus paid in 2022 for performance in 2021, as discussed under the "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" section's 2021 Annual Cash Incentive Program.
- (2) The amounts reflect the grant date fair value for time-based stock option awards granted during the applicable year. The grant date fair value was computed in accordance with FASB ASC 718, disregarding the effect of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting. See note 12 to the financial statements in our 2021 Annual Report regarding assumptions we made in determining the fair value of option awards.
- (3) The amounts reflect the grant date fair value for restricted stock unit awards granted during the applicable year. The grant date fair value was computed in accordance with FASB ASC 718, disregarding the effect of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting. See note 12 to the financial statements in our 2021 Annual Report regarding assumptions we made in determining the fair value of stock awards.
- (4) The amounts reported for 2021 represent (i) life insurance premiums paid on behalf of each of the named executive officers, (ii) 401(k) match to all participating named executive officers, and (iii) \$13,864 in expenses related to travel between Dr. Leonard's home office and our headquarters in Massachusetts.
- (5) Mr. Basta joined us as executive vice president, general counsel and corporate secretary effective June 23, 2021. His annualized base salary for 2021 was \$420,000.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table shows information regarding grants of plan-based awards during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 to the Company's named executive officers.

Name	Grant Date	All Other Stock Awards: Number of Shares of Stock or Units (#)(1)	Amards: Number of Securities Underlying Options (#)(1)	Exercise or Base Price of Option Awards (\$/share)(2)	Grant Date Fair Value of Stock and Option Awards (\$)(3)
John M. Leonard, M.D.	3/3/2021	_	188,363	57.71	6,876,888
	3/3/2021	31,394	_	_	1,811,748
Glenn G. Goddard	3/3/2021	_	73,500	57.71	2,683,389
	3/3/2021	12,250	_	_	706,948
James Basta, J.D.	7/1/2021	_	130,000	171.65	14,612,637
David Lebwohl, M.D.	3/3/2021	_	76,500	57.71	2,792,916
	3/3/2021	12,750	_	_	735,803
Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D.	3/3/2021	_	84,000	57.71	3,066,731
	3/3/2021	14,000	_	_	807,940

All Other Ontion

- (1) Represent options and restricted stock units subject to time-based vesting criteria established by the compensation committee or the board of directors and described in the footnotes to the Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End table below.
- (2) The exercise price of these stock options is equal to the closing price of our common stock on the Nasdaq Global Market on the grant date.
- (3) Amounts represent the grant date fair value of the named executive officer's stock options and restricted stock units, calculated in accordance with FASB ASC 718. For purposes of these calculations, we have disregarded the estimate of forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table presents information regarding all outstanding equity awards held by each of our named executive officers on December 31, 2021. All of the outstanding awards were granted under our Amended and Restated 2015 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the "2015 Plan").

			Option Awards			Stock A	Awards
Name	Grant Date	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Exercisable	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Unexercisable (1)	Option Exercise Price (\$)	Option Expiration Date	Number of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (#)(2)	Market Value of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (\$)(3)
John M. Leonard, M.D.	2/3/2016	58,516	<u> </u>	6.83	2/2/2026		_
	1/6/2017	2,003	_	13.88	1/5/2027	_	_
	12/12/2017	11,515	_	18.30	12/11/2027	_	_
	1/25/2018	105,416	4,584	22.78	1/24/2028	_	_
	12/18/2018	30,000	60,000	14.58	12/17/2028	_	_
	3/2/2020	35,417	177,084	13.40	3/1/2030	_	_
	3/3/2021	_	188,363	57.71	3/2/2031	_	_
	3/3/2021	_	_	_	_	31,394	3,712,027
Glenn G. Goddard	11/1/2018	23,067	18,750	19.27	10/31/2028	_	_
	12/18/2018	8,013	4,438	14.58	12/17/2028	_	_
	3/2/2020	59,895	65,105	13.40	3/1/2030	_	_
	3/3/2021	_	73,500	57.71	3/2/2031	_	_
	3/3/2021	_	_	_	_	12,250	1,448,440
James Basta, J.D.	7/1/2021	_	130,000	171.65	6/30/2031	_	_
David Lebwohl, M.D.	5/1/2020	63,410	116,667	12.62	4/30/2030	_	_
	3/3/2021	_	76,500	57.71	3/2/2031	_	_
	3/3/2021	_	_	_	_	12,750	1,507,560
Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D.	6/3/2019	26,875	53,125	14.25	6/2/2029	_	_
	3/2/2020	11,687	70,313	13.40	3/1/2030	_	_
	3/3/2021	_	84,000	57.71	3/2/2031	_	_
	3/3/2021	_	_	_	_	14,000	1,655,360

- (1) Time-based stock options vest over four years, with 25% of the shares generally vesting on the first anniversary of the date of grant or the vesting commencement date, as applicable, and the remainder vesting in 36 substantially equal monthly installments over the following three years. Options granted on March 2, 2020 and March 3, 2021 are time-based stock options that vest over four years, with 25% of the shares vesting on January 1, 2021 and January 1, 2022, respectively, and the remainder vesting in 36 substantially equal monthly installments over the following three years.
- (2) Represents shares underlying a restricted stock unit that vested as to 25% of the shares underlying the award on January 1, 2022, and the remainder vesting in three substantially equal annual installments.
- (3) Based on a price of \$118.24, which was the closing price per share of our common stock as reported by the Nasdaq Global Market on December 31, 2021, the last trading day of 2021.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested

The following table sets forth, for each of the named executive officers, information with respect to the exercise of stock options during the year ended December 31, 2021. No stock awards vested during the year ended December 31, 2021.

	Option Awards				
Name	Number of Shares Acquired on Exercise (#)	Value Realized on Exercise (\$)(1)			
John M. Leonard, M.D.	681,949	52,923,554			
Glenn G. Goddard	53,482	7,426,119			
James Basta, J.D.	-	_			
David Lebwohl, M.D.	19,923	2,689,558			
Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D.	123,000	16,904,740			

(1) Calculated by multiplying the number of shares of our common stock acquired upon exercise by the difference between the exercise price and the closing market price of our common stock on the exercise date.

Employment, Severance and Change in Control Arrangements

During 2021, we did not amend or restate employment agreements that were in place as of January 1, 2021 with any of our named executive officers. In June 2021, we entered into an employment agreement, of similar form to the then-existing named executive officers, with Mr. Basta in connection with his hire. Each of our named executive officers is employed at will. The material terms of the employment agreements with our named executive officers are summarized below.

John M. Leonard, *M.D.* Dr. Leonard currently receives an annual base salary of \$630,000, which is subject to review and adjustment in accordance with Company policy. Dr. Leonard is also eligible for an annual incentive bonus targeted at 65% of his base salary. Dr. Leonard is also eligible to participate in employee benefit plans generally available to all of our employees, subject to the terms of those plans.

Glenn G. Goddard Mr. Goddard currently receives an annual base salary of \$450,000, which is subject to review and adjustment in accordance with Company policy. Mr. Goddard is also eligible for an annual incentive bonus targeted at 40% of his base salary. Mr. Goddard is also eligible to participate in employee benefit plans generally available to all of our employees, subject to the terms of those plans.

James Basta, J.D. Mr. Basta currently receives an annual base salary of \$435,600, which is subject to review and adjustment in accordance with Company policy. Mr. Basta is also eligible for an annual incentive bonus targeted at 40% of his base salary. Mr. Basta is also eligible to participate in employee benefit plans generally available to all of our employees, subject to the terms of those plans.

David Lebwohl, *M.D.* Dr. Lebwohl currently receives an annual base salary of \$475,300, which is subject to review and adjustment in accordance with Company policy. Dr. Lebwohl is also eligible for an annual incentive bonus targeted at 40% of his base salary. Dr. Lebwohl is also eligible to participate in employee benefit plans generally available to all of our employees, subject to the terms of those plans.

Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, *Ph.D.* Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino currently receives an annual base salary of \$470,000, which is subject to review and adjustment in accordance with Company policy. Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino is also eligible for an annual incentive bonus targeted at 40% of her base salary. Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino is also eligible to participate in employee benefit plans generally available to all of our employees, subject to the terms of those plans.

Each of our named executive officers has entered into a standard form agreement with respect to proprietary information and assignment of inventions. Among other things, this agreement obligates each named executive officer to refrain from disclosing any of our proprietary information received during the course of employment and to assign to us any inventions conceived or developed during the course of employment. With respect to Dr. Leonard, such agreement also provides that during the period of his employment and for six months thereafter, he will not compete with us and will not solicit our employees, consultants, customers or suppliers. Because of the Massachusetts non-compete law that became effective on, and applied to employees hired after, October 1, 2018, we separated the non-competition provisions from the other provisions in our standard form agreement. Accordingly, upon their respective employment commencement, we entered into the standard form agreement with Mr. Goddard, Mr. Basta and Drs. Lebwohl and Sepp-Lorenzino with regards to proprietary information and assignment of inventions as previously described except that the agreement does not contain non-competition obligations. With regards to non-competition obligations, we entered into separate agreements with Mr. Goddard (on October 29, 2018), Mr. Basta (on June 23, 2021), Dr. Lebwohl (on April 30, 2020) and Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino (on May 28, 2019) under which, as required by state law, we have agreed to pay each of them, respectively, 50% of his or her base salary if we decide to enforce the non-competition obligation following the period of his or her respective employment; provided that any severance payments Mr. Goddard, Mr. Basta or Drs. Lebwohl and Sepp-Lorenzino would be entitled to receive will be reduced by the amount that Mr. Goddard, Mr. Basta or Drs. Lebwohl and Sepp-Lorenzino is entitled to receive under his or her employment agreement (described below), respectively, if the non-competition agreement is enforced.

Pursuant to separate employment agreements with our named executive officers, if a named executive officer's employment is terminated by us without cause, as defined in the employment agreements, or by the named executive officer for good reason, as defined in the employment agreements, and subject to the execution and effectiveness of a separation agreement, including a general release of claims in our favor, the named executive officer will be entitled to receive: (i) an amount equal to 12 months of base salary in the case of Dr. Leonard, or nine months of base salary in the case of the other named executive officers, in each case, payable in substantially equal installments over the 12 or nine months following termination, as applicable, and (ii) if the named executive officer is participating in our group health plan immediately prior to his or her termination, we will continue to pay our portion of coverage until 12 months following termination in the case of Dr. Leonard, or nine months following termination in the case of the other named executive officers, or, if earlier, the end of the executive officer's COBRA health continuation period, in an amount equal to the amount that we would have made to provide health insurance to the executive officer had he or she remained employed with us. In addition, except as otherwise provided in the applicable award agreement, all equity awards held by the named executive officer or by entities to which the named executive officer has properly transferred such awards that would have vested in the 12-month period following termination in the case of Dr. Leonard or the nine-month period following termination in the case of the other named executive officers had the named executive officer remained employed by us during such period will accelerate and vest as of the date of termination. In lieu of the payments and benefits described above, in the event that the named executive officer's employment is terminated by us without cause or the named executive officer resigns for good reason, in either case within 24 months following a change in control, as defined in the employment agreements, subject to the execution and effectiveness of a separation agreement, including a general release of claims in our favor, the named executive officer will be entitled to receive (i) a lump sum cash payment equal to two times in the case of Dr. Leonard, or 1.5 times in the case of the other named executive officers, the sum of (A) the officer's then-current base salary, or the officer's base salary in effect immediately prior to the change in control, if higher, and (B) the officer's target annual cash incentive compensation for the then-current year, (ii) if the officer is participating in our group health plan immediately prior to his or her termination, we will continue to pay our portion of coverage until 18 months following termination or, if earlier, the end of the officer's COBRA health continuation period in an amount equal to the amount that we would have made to provide health insurance to him or her had he or she remained employed with us and (iii) except as otherwise provided in the applicable award agreement, (A) if the named executive officer was employed by the Company for at least six consecutive months immediately prior to the change in control, full acceleration of all equity awards held by the officer or by entities to whom the officer has properly transferred such awards or (B) if the named executive officer was employed by the Company for less than six consecutive months immediately prior to the change in control, acceleration of 50% of all equity awards held by the officer or by entities to whom the officer has properly transferred such awards.

Estimated Payment and Benefits Upon Termination or Change of Control

The amount of compensation and benefits payable to each named executive officer who was employed on December 31, 2021 under our current employment agreements in various termination and change in control situations has been estimated in the tables below. The value of the equity vesting acceleration was calculated for each of the tables below based on the assumption that the change in control and the named executive officer's employment termination occurred on December 31, 2021. The per share closing price of the Company's stock on the Nasdaq Global Market as of December 31, 2021 was \$118.24, which was used as the value of a share of the Company's stock in the change in control for the calculations below. The value of the option vesting acceleration was calculated by multiplying the number of shares underlying unvested options subject to vesting acceleration as of December 31, 2021, by the difference between the per share closing price of the Company's stock as of December 31, 2021, and the per share exercise price for such shares underlying unvested options.

The following table describes the potential payments and benefits upon employment termination for Dr. Leonard, as if his employment terminated as of December 31, 2021.

Executive Benefits and Payment upon Termination	Cause o Good Rea	nation by Company without or Voluntary Resignation for ason Not in Connection with a Change in Control (\$)	G	Company without Cause or Voluntary Resignation for Good Reason within 4 Months Following a Change in Control (\$)
John M. Leonard, M.D.				
Cash Severance	\$	600,000 (1)	\$	1,860,000 (2)
Acceleration of Equity Awards		21,959,732 (3)		40,336,314 (4)
Health Care Continuation		— (5)		— (5)
Total	\$	22,559,732	\$	42,196,314

Termination by

- (3) Value attributable to 12 months of acceleration of outstanding equity awards.
- (4) Value attributable to acceleration of 100% of outstanding equity awards.
- (5) Dr. Leonard was not participating in our group health plan as of December 31, 2021.

⁽¹⁾ Base salary continuation for 12 months.

⁽²⁾ Two times the sum of (a) 2021 base salary, and (b) 2021 target annual cash incentive compensation.

The following table describes the potential payments and benefits upon employment termination for all of our named executive officers other than Dr. Leonard, as if his or her employment terminated as of December 31, 2021.

Termination by

Executive Benefits and Payment upon Termination	Cause or ' Good Ro	ion by Company without Voluntary Resignation for cason Not in Connection Change in Control (\$)	Co Ca I Go	ompany without use or Voluntary Resignation for od Reason within Wonths Following a Change in Control (\$)
Glenn G. Goddard				
Cash Severance	\$	314,400 (1)	\$	880,320 (2)
Acceleration of Equity Awards		6,688,121 (3)		15,038,734 (4)
Health Care Continuation		18,620 (5)		37,240 (6)
Total	<u>\$</u>	7,021,141	\$	15,956,294
James Basta, J.D.				
Cash Severance	\$	315,000 (1)	\$	882,000 (2)
Acceleration of Equity Awards		— (7)		— (7)
Health Care Continuation		18,620 (5)		37,240 (6)
Total	\$	333,620	\$	919,240
David Lebwohl, M.D.				
Cash Severance	\$	343,725 (1)	\$	962,430 (2)
Acceleration of Equity Awards		6,266,975 (3)		18,460,474 (4)
Health Care Continuation		12,846 (5)		25,691 (6)
Total	<u>\$</u>	6,623,546	\$	19,448,595
Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D.				
Cash Severance	\$	330,750 (1)	\$	926,100 (2)
Acceleration of Equity Awards		8,110,924 (3)		19,635,964 (4)
Health Care Continuation		12,846 (5)		25,691 (6)
Total	\$	8,454,520	\$	20,587,755

⁽¹⁾ Base salary continuation for nine months.

⁽²⁾ One and a half times the sum of (a) 2021 base salary, and (b) 2021 target annual cash incentive compensation.

⁽³⁾ Value attributable to nine months of acceleration of outstanding equity awards.

⁽⁴⁾ Value attributable to acceleration of 100% of outstanding equity awards.

⁽⁵⁾ Payment of the COBRA health insurance premiums until the earlier of (a) nine months following the date of termination, or (b) the end of the COBRA health continuation period.

⁽⁶⁾ Payment of the COBRA health insurance premiums until the earlier of (a) 18 months following the date of termination, or (b) the end of the COBRA health continuation period.

⁽⁷⁾ Mr. Basta's options are underwater as of December 31, 2021. Accordingly, no value has been included in the "Acceleration of Equity Awards" column for Mr. Basta because Mr. Basta would not realize any value in connection with the accelerated vesting of the options using the assumptions set forth above.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2021 with respect to the shares of our common stock that may be issued under our existing equity compensation plans.

Plan Category	Number of Securities to be Issued Upon Exercise of Outstanding Options, Warrants and Rights	Weighted Average Exercise Price of Outstanding Options, Warrants and Rights	(2)	Number of Securities Remaining Available for Future Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans (Excluding Securities Reflected in the First Column) (3)
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders ⁽¹⁾	6,765,271	\$ 43.53	(2)	3,538,480
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders				<u> </u>
Total	6,765,271	\$ 43.53	: :	3,538,480

- (1) Includes the following plans: our 2015 Plan and the 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "2016 ESPP").
- (2) Since restricted stock units do not have any exercise price, such units are not included in the weighted-average exercise price calculation.
- (3) As of December 31, 2021, a total of 2,241,278 shares of our common stock have been reserved for issuance pursuant to the 2015 Plan, which number excludes the 2,979,435 shares that were added to the plan as a result of the automatic annual increase on January 1, 2022. The 2015 Plan provides that the number of shares reserved and available for issuance under the plan will automatically increase each January 1, beginning on January 1, 2017, by 4% of the outstanding number of shares of our common stock on the immediately preceding December 31 or such lesser number of shares as determined by the compensation committee. This number will be subject to adjustment in the event of a stock split, stock dividend or other change in our capitalization. The shares of common stock underlying any awards that are forfeited, cancelled, held back upon exercise or settlement of an award to satisfy the exercise price or tax withholding, reacquired by us prior to vesting, satisfied without the issuance of stock, that expire or are otherwise terminated, other than by exercise, under the 2015 Plan will be added back to the shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2015 Plan. As of December 31, 2021, a total of 1,297,202 shares of our common stock have been reserved for issuance pursuant to the 2016 ESPP. The 2016 ESPP provides that the number of shares reserved and available for issuance under the plan will automatically increase each January 1, beginning on January 1, 2017, by the least of (i) 500,000 shares of our common stock, (ii) 1% of the outstanding number of shares of our common stock on the immediately preceding December 31 or (iii) such number of shares as determined by the compensation committee. This number will be subject to adjustment in the event of a stock split, stock dividend or other change in our capitalization. The compensation committee determined that the number of shares available for purchase under the 2016 ESPP as of December 31, 2021 was adequate for use in 2022 and determined that there sho

CEO Pay Ratio

Our compensation and benefits philosophy and the overall structure of our compensation and benefit programs are broadly similar across the organization to encourage and reward all employees who contribute to our success. We strive to ensure the pay of each of our employees reflects the level of their job impact and responsibilities and is competitive within our peer group. Compensation rates are benchmarked and are generally set to be market-competitive in the country in which the jobs are performed. Our ongoing commitment to pay equity is critical to our success in supporting a diverse workforce with opportunities for all employees to grow, develop and contribute.

Under rules adopted pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, we are required to calculate and disclose the total compensation paid to our median paid employee, as well as the ratio of the total compensation paid to the median employee as compared to the total compensation paid to our chief executive officer (the "CEO Pay Ratio"). The paragraphs that follow describe our methodology and the resulting CEO Pay Ratio.

We identified the median employee using our employee population on December 31, 2021 (including all employees, whether employed on a full-time, part-time, seasonal or temporary basis).

We identified the median employee by looking at W-2 compensation, plus estimated bonus, the fair market value of equity grants, life and disability insurance, and the estimated value of 401(k) match (whether vested or not) as of December 31, 2021. We did not perform adjustments to the compensation paid to part-time employees to calculate what they would have been paid on a full-time basis. In identifying the median employee, we did not make any cost-of-living adjustments. Once the median employee was

identified, we calculated the median employee's annual target total direct compensation in accordance with the requirements of the Summary Compensation Table.

Our median employee's compensation as calculated using Summary Compensation Table requirements was \$272,162. Our chief executive officer's compensation as reported in the Summary Compensation Table was \$9,773,560. Therefore, our CEO Pay Ratio is approximately 36:1.

This information is being provided for compliance purposes and is a reasonable estimate calculated in a manner consistent with SEC rules, based on our internal records and the methodology described above. The SEC rules for identifying the median compensated employee allow companies to adopt a variety of methodologies, to apply certain exclusions and to make reasonable estimates and assumptions that reflect their employee populations and compensation practices. Accordingly, the pay ratio reported by other companies may not be comparable to the pay ratio reported above, as other companies have different employee populations and compensation practices and may use different methodologies, exclusions, estimates and assumptions in calculating their own pay ratios. Neither the compensation committee nor management of the Company used the CEO Pay Ratio measure in making compensation decisions.

Director Compensation

The table below shows all compensation paid to our non-employee directors during 2021.

Name (1)	Fees Earned or Paid In Cash (\$) (2)	Option Awards (\$) (3) (4)	Stock Awards (\$) (3) (4)	Total(\$)
Fred Cohen, M.D., D.Phil.	45,000	175,045	175,037	395,082
John Crowley	53,285	175,045	175,037	403,367
Caroline Dorsa	60,000	175,045	175,037	410,082
Jean-François Formela, M.D.	_	175,045	175,037	350,082
Jesse Goodman, M.D., M.P.H.	44,000	175,045	175,037	394,082
Georgia Keresty, Ph.D., M.P.H. (5)	37,624	481,163	481,174	999,961
Frank Verwiel, M.D.	81,500	175,045	175,037	431,582

- (1) The aggregate number of shares of our common stock underlying stock options and restricted stock units outstanding as of December 31, 2021 for the non-employee members of the board of directors were: Dr. Cohen 61,476; Mr. Crowley 30,976; Ms. Dorsa 105,740; Dr. Formela 105,005; Dr. Goodman 81,476; Dr. Keresty 16,813; and Dr. Verwiel 100,476.
- (2) Amounts represent cash compensation for services rendered by each member of the board of directors. Dr. Formela waived his right to receive cash compensation for his service on our board of directors during 2021.
- (3) In June 2021, each of Dr. Cohen, Mr. Crowley, Ms. Dorsa, Dr. Formela, Dr. Goodman and Dr. Verwiel was granted an option to purchase 3,382 shares of common stock and a restricted stock unit representing 2,094 shares. Dr. Keresty was granted an option to purchase 7,755 shares and a restricted stock unit representing 4,955 shares upon her initial election to the board of directors in April 2021 and an option to purchase 2,534 shares of common stock and a restricted stock unit representing 1,569 shares in June 2021.
- (4) Amounts shown reflect the grant date fair value of option and restricted stock unit awards granted during 2021. The grant date fair value was computed in accordance with FASB ASC 718, disregarding the effect of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting. See note 12 to the financial statements in our 2021 Annual Report regarding assumptions we made in determining the fair value of option and stock awards.
- (5) Dr. Keresty was elected to the board of directors in April 2021.

During 2021, we did not provide any compensation, including cash payments or equity awards, to Dr. Leonard for his service as a director. Compensation paid to Dr. Leonard as an executive officer during 2021 is set forth under "Executive Officer Compensation—Summary Compensation Table."

During 2021, we compensated our non-employee directors with a cash retainer for service on the board of directors and for service on each committee on which the director is a member. The chairperson of the board and of each committee receives a higher retainer for such service. These fees are payable in arrears in four equal quarterly installments on the last day of each quarter, provided that the amount of such payment is prorated for any portion of such quarter that the director is not serving on our board of directors. The fees

paid to non-employee directors for service on the board of directors and for service on each committee of the board of directors on which the director is a member are as follows:

	Member nnual Fee	Chairperson Additional Annual Fee
Board of Directors	\$ 40,000	\$ 30,000
Audit Committee	7,500	7,500
Compensation and Talent Development Committee	5,000	5,000
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee	4,000	4,000

We also reimburse our non-employee directors for reasonable travel and out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with attending our board of director and committee meetings.

Non-Employee Director Equity Compensation

Our non-employee director equity compensation is intended to enable us to attract and retain qualified and experienced individuals to serve as directors and to align our directors' interests with those of our stockholders.

In 2021, each non-employee director, upon his or her initial election to our board of directors, received an initial equity award valued at \$700,0000, with 50% of the value delivered in the form of stock options and 50% delivered in the form of restricted stock units. Additionally, on the date of our Company's 2021 annual meeting of stockholders, each non-employee director received an annual equity award valued at up to \$350,000, in accordance with the provisions of the 2015 Plan, with 50% of the value delivered in the form of stock options and 50% of the value delivered in the form of restricted stock units.

In 2022, each non-employee director, upon his or her initial election to our board of directors, will receive an initial equity award valued at \$800,000, with 50% of the value delivered in the form of stock options and 50% delivered in the form of restricted stock units. Also in 2022, on the date of the annual meeting of stockholders of our Company, each non-employee director will receive an annual equity award valued at \$400,000, with 50% of the value delivered in the form of stock options and 50% of the value delivered in the form of restricted stock units.

Our non-employee director compensation policy was approved by the board of directors as recommended by the compensation committee, which consulted with Aon and reviewed market data relating to our peer companies. We aim to position non-employee director compensation competitively within our peer group for board compensation and use the same peer group as we use for our named executive officers' compensation.

To be aligned with their director terms, equity awards granted to non-employee directors upon initial election to the board of directors vest over the three years following the grant date, with 33^{1/3}% of the shares vesting one year after the date of grant and the remaining portion of the shares vesting thereafter in substantially equal quarterly installments over the next two years, subject to continued service through such date. Equity awards granted to our non-employee directors on the date of each annual meeting vest in full upon the earlier to occur of the first anniversary of the grant date or the date of the next annual meeting of stockholders following the date of grant, subject to continued service as a director through such date.

All equity awards issued to our non-employee directors under our director compensation program will become fully vested upon a change in control of our Company. In addition, the form of option agreement gives non-employee directors up to three months and one day following cessation of service as a director to exercise the options, to the extent vested at the date of such cessation, provided that the director has not been removed for cause. The exercise price of options granted to our non-employee directors under our director compensation policy is equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant.

REPORT OF THE COMPENSATION AND TALENT DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

The information contained in this report shall not be deemed to be (1) "soliciting material," (2) "filed" with the SEC, (3) subject to Regulations 14A or 14C of the Exchange Act, or (4) subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act. This report shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any of our other filings under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.

The compensation and talent development committee has reviewed and discussed the "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" section of this proxy statement with management. Based on the review and discussions, the compensation and talent development committee recommended to the board of directors that the "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" section be included in this proxy statement, which is incorporated by reference in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

THE COMPENSATION AND TALENT DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF INTELLIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
John Crowley, Chairperson
Fred Cohen, M.D., D.Phil.
Caroline Dorsa
Jean-François Formela, M.D.

May 2, 2022

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Certain Relationships and Transactions

Other than compensation arrangements for our directors and named executive officers, which are described elsewhere under the "Executive Officer and Director Compensation" section of this proxy statement, below we describe transactions since January 1, 2021 to which we were a party or will be a party, in which:

- the amounts involved exceeded or will exceed \$120,000; and
- any of our directors, executive officers or holders of more than 5% of our capital stock, or any member of the immediate family of, or person sharing the household with, the foregoing persons, had or will have a direct or indirect material interest.

Andrew Schiermeier, Ph.D., and AvenCell Therapeutics, Inc.

On June 21, 2021, Andrew Schiermeier, Ph.D., former Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company, informed the Company that he would be resigning from his position on July 30, 2021 (the "Effective Date") in order to accept the position of President and Chief Executive Officer of AvenCell Therapeutics, Inc. ("AvenCell"), a privately held CAR-T cell therapy company formed in a joint venture between the Company, Cellex Cell Professionals GmbH ("Cellex") and Blackstone Life Sciences Advisors L.L.C. ("Blackstone Life Sciences"). In connection with his resignation from his position with the Company, Dr. Schiermeier received (i) his prorated bonus for the calendar year 2021, and (ii) monthly cash payment equal to the monthly employer contribution that the Company would have made to provide health insurance to him if he had remained employed by the Company until the earlier of six (6) months following the Effective Date or the date he becomes eligible for health benefits through another employer or otherwise becomes ineligible for COBRA. In addition, (x) the unvested portions of Dr. Schiermeier's outstanding stock options, restricted stock awards, and other stock-based awards that would have vested in the nine (9) months following the Effective Date accelerated and became fully exercisable or nonforfeitable and (y) any vested stock options and other stock-based awards as of the Effective Date became fully exercisable until nine (9) months from the Effective Date. In connection with his employment with AvenCell, Dr. Schiermeier entered into an employment agreement with AvenCell containing customary employment arrangements and terms.

Funds managed by Blackstone Life Sciences have committed up to \$250 million to the transaction and they, the Company and Cellex (and certain related entities) will each have equal ownership of the new company as of the Effective Date. On the Effective Date, the Company entered into two agreements with AvenCell: (i) a license and collaboration agreement (the "AvenCell LCA"), under which the Company will collaborate to develop allogeneic universal CAR-T cell therapies and which granted AvenCell a license to develop and commercialize genome edited universal CAR-T cell therapies (limited to its use with their switchable, universal CAR-T cell UniCAR and RevCAR platforms); and (ii) a co-development and co-funding agreement (the "AvenCell Co/Co"), under which the Company will co-develop and co-commercialize allogeneic universal CAR-T cell products for an immuno-oncology indication. The Company recognized \$5.9 million in revenue related to the AvenCell LCA for the year ended December 31, 2021 after eliminating \$2.9 million in intra-entity profit, which will be deferred and recognized if and when AvenCell commercializes a product with the Company's license or abandons the related project. Until such time, the \$2.9 million of revenue is indefinitely deferred and excluded from the results of operations of the Company. The Company also recognized \$0.2 million in revenues related to the AvenCell Co/Co agreement for the year ended December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2021 the Company had deferred revenue of \$54.1 million related to the AvenCell LCA, which the Company expects to recognize through July 2023.

Indemnification Agreements

We have entered into agreements to indemnify our directors and executive officers. These agreements will, among other things, require us to indemnify these individuals for certain expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and settlement amounts reasonably incurred by such person in any action or proceeding, including any action by or in our right, on account of any services undertaken by such person on behalf of our Company or that person's status as a member of our board of directors to the maximum extent allowed under Delaware law.

Policies and Procedures for Related Party Transactions

We have adopted a related party transaction approval policy that governs the review of related party transactions. Pursuant to this written policy, if we enter into a transaction involving over \$120,000 with any director, executive officer, holder of 5% or more of any class of our capital stock or any member of the immediate family of, or entities affiliated with, any of them, or any other related party, our audit committee must approve such transaction. Any such transaction must either first be presented to our audit committee for review, consideration or approval, or, if advance review by the committee is not feasible, be reviewed, considered or approved by the committee at its next regularly scheduled meeting. In approving or rejecting any such transaction, our audit committee is to consider the relevant facts and circumstances available and deemed relevant to the audit committee, including, but not limited to, the extent of the related party's interest in the transaction, and whether the transaction is on terms no less favorable to us than terms we could have

generally obtained from an unaffiliated third party under the same or similar circumstances. Further, when stockholders are entitled to vote on a transaction with a related party, the material facts of the related party's relationship or interest in the transaction must be disclosed to the stockholders, who must approve the transaction in good faith.

PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS

The following table sets forth information, to the extent known by us or ascertainable from public filings, with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of March 31, 2022 by:

- each of our directors;
- each of our named executive officers;
- all of our directors and executive officers as a group; and
- each person, or group of affiliated persons, who is known by us to beneficially own greater-than-5% of our common stock.

The column entitled "Percentage Beneficially Owned" is based on 75,624,167 shares of our common stock outstanding as of March 31, 2022.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC and includes voting or investment power with respect to our common stock. Shares of our common stock subject to options that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of March 31, 2022 are considered outstanding and beneficially owned by the person holding the options for the purpose of calculating the percentage ownership of that person but not for the purpose of calculating the percentage ownership of any other person. Except as otherwise noted, the persons and entities in this table have sole voting and investing power with respect to all of the shares of our common stock beneficially owned by them, subject to community property laws, where applicable. Except as otherwise indicated in the table below, addresses of named beneficial owners are in care of Intellia Therapeutics, Inc., 40 Erie Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139.

Name of Beneficial Owner	Number of Shares Beneficially Owned	Percentage Beneficially Owned
Greater than 5% Stockholders:	Denemenary Owned	Owned
ARK Investment Management LLC (1)	8,981,029	11.9%
BlackRock, Inc. (2)	5,620,376	7.4%
The Vanguard Group (3)	6,442,355	8.5%
Entities affiliated with Fidelity Management & Research		
Company (4)	3,877,772	5.1%
Directors and Named Executive Officers:		
James Basta, J.D.	_	_
Fred Cohen, M.D., D.Phil. (5)	86,000	*
John Crowley (6)	6,499	*
Caroline Dorsa (7)	105,674	*
Jean-François Formela, M.D. (8)	99,529	*
Glenn Goddard (9)	141,769	*
Jesse Goodman, M.D., M.P.H. (10)	76,000	*
Georgia Keresty, Ph.D., M.P.H. (11)	4,154	*
David Lebwohl, M.D. (12)	116,499	*
John M. Leonard, M.D. (13)	1,153,730	1.5%
Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D. (14)	101,065	*
Frank Verwiel, M.D. (15)	95,000	*
All current executive officers and directors as a group (14 persons) (16)	2,029,619	2.6%

^{*} Represents beneficial ownership of less than one percent of our outstanding common stock.

- (1) The information reported is based on a Schedule 13F, as filed by ARK Investment Management LLC ("ARK") with the SEC on April 19, 2022. ARK has sole voting power over 7,915,145 shares, shared voting power over 732,785 shares, and no voting power over 333,099 shares. The address of ARK Investment Management LLC is 200 Central Avenue, St. Petersburg, FL 33701.
- (2) The information reported is based on information in a Schedule 13G/A, as filed by BlackRock, Inc. ("BlackRock") with the SEC on February 3, 2022. All shares are beneficially owned by BlackRock, a parent holding company, and on behalf of its wholly owned subsidiaries (i) BlackRock Life Limited; (ii) BlackRock Advisors, LLC; (iii) Aperio Group, LLC; (iv) BlackRock (Netherlands) B.V.; (v) BlackRock Institutional Trust Company, National Association; (vi) BlackRock Asset Management Ireland Limited; (vii) BlackRock Financial Management, Inc.; (viii) BlackRock Japan Co., Ltd.; (ix) BlackRock Asset Management Schweiz AG; (x) BlackRock Investment Management, LLC; (xi) BlackRock Investment Management (UK)

Limited; (xii) BlackRock Asset Management Canada Limited; (xiii) BlackRock (Luxembourg) S.A.; (xiv) BlackRock Investment Management (Australia) Limited; (xv) BlackRock Fund Advisors; and (xvi) BlackRock Fund Managers Ltd. BlackRock has sole voting power over 5,505,879 shares of our common stock and has sole dispositive power over 5,620,376 shares of our common stock. The address of BlackRock, Inc. is 55 East 52nd Street, New York, NY 10055.

- (3) The information reported is based on a Schedule 13G/A, as filed by The Vanguard Group ("Vanguard") with the SEC on February 10, 2022. Vanguard has shared voting power with respect to 132,394 shares of our common stock, sole dispositive power with respect to 6,251,113 shares of our common stock, and shared dispositive power with respect to 191,242 shares of our common stock. The principal business address of The Vanguard Group is 100 Vanguard Blvd., Malvern, PA 19355.
- (4) The information reported is based on a Schedule 13G, as filed with the SEC on February 9, 2022, in which FMR LLC and certain of its affiliates reported that FMR LLC, a parent holding company, has sole voting power over 580,831 shares and sole dispositive power over 3,877,772 shares. The principal business address of FMR LLC is 245 Summer Street, Boston, MA 02210.
- (5) Consists of (i) 30,000 shares of common stock, and (ii) 56,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2022.
- (6) Consists of 6,499 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2022.
- (7) Consists of (i) 5,410 shares of common stock, and (ii) 100,264 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2022.
- (8) Consists of 99,529 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options issued to Dr. Formela that are exercisable within 60 days of March 31, 2022. Based on a Form 4 as filed by Dr. Formela on June 28, 2021, 10,000 shares of our common stock are held directly by Atlas Venture Fund IX, L.P. ("Atlas IX"). Atlas Venture Associates IX, L.P. ("AVA IX LP") is the general partner of Atlas IX. Atlas Venture Associates IX, LLC ("AVA IX LLC") is a general partner of AVA IX LP. Dr. Formela is a member of AVA IX LLC; he and the other members collectively make investment decisions on behalf of Atlas Venture Fund IX. Dr. Formela, as a member of AVA IX LLC, is obligated to transfer the economic benefit, if any, received upon the sale of the shares issuable upon exercise of the equity grants to Atlas Venture Advisors, L.P. As such, Dr. Formela disclaims beneficial ownership of the securities held by Atlas IX for purposes of Section 16 of the Exchange Act, except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein, if any.
- (9) Consists of (i) 2,049 shares of common stock, and (ii) 139,720 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2022.
- (10) Consists of 76,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2022.
- (11) Consists of (i) 1,569 shares of common stock issuable upon the vesting of restricted stock units within 60 days after March 31, 2022, and (ii) 2,585 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2022.
- (12) Consists of (i) 10,922 shares of common stock, and (ii) 105,577 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2022.
- (13) Consists of (i) 783,075 shares of common stock, and (ii) 370,655 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2022. On April 25, 2017, Dr. Leonard pledged 145,000 shares of common stock to secure a loan; our audit committee authorized and approved the pledge on April 25, 2017.
- (14) Consists of (i) 4,815 shares of common stock, and (ii) 96,250 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2022.
- (15) Consists of 95,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2022.
- (16) Consists of (i) 839,540 shares of common stock, and (ii) 1,190,079 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2022.

DELINQUENT SECTION 16A REPORTS

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors, executive officers, and persons holding more than 10% of our common stock to report their initial ownership of the common stock and other equity securities and any changes in that ownership in reports that must be filed with the SEC. The SEC has designated specific deadlines for these reports, and we must identify in this proxy statement those persons who did not file these reports when due.

Based solely on a review of reports furnished to us, or written representations from reporting persons, we believe all directors, executive officers, and 10% owners timely filed all reports regarding transactions in our securities required to be filed for 2021 by Section 16(a) under the Exchange Act with the exception of four Form 4 transactions; one each for John Leonard, our president and chief executive officer, Glenn Goddard, our executive vice president, chief financial officer and treasurer, David Lebwohl, our executive vice president and chief medical officer and Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, our executive vice president and chief scientific officer.

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee is appointed by the board of directors to assist the board of directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to (1) the integrity of Intellia's financial statements and financial reporting process and systems of internal controls regarding finance, accounting, and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, (2) the qualifications, independence, and performance of Intellia's independent registered public accounting firm, (3) the performance of Intellia's internal audit function, if any, and (4) other matters as set forth in the charter of the audit committee approved by the board of directors.

Management is responsible for the preparation of Intellia's financial statements and the financial reporting process, including its system of internal control over financial reporting and its disclosure controls and procedures. The independent registered public accounting firm is responsible for performing an audit of Intellia's financial statements in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB and issuing a report thereon. The audit committee's responsibility is to monitor and oversee these processes.

In connection with these responsibilities, the audit committee reviewed and discussed with management and the independent registered public accounting firm the audited consolidated financial statements of Intellia for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, including internal control testing under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The audit committee also discussed with the independent registered public accounting firm the matters required to be discussed by the PCAOB's Auditing Standard No. 1301, *Communication with Audit Committees*, and the SEC. In addition, the audit committee received written disclosures and the letter from the independent registered public accounting firm as required by the applicable requirements of the PCAOB regarding the independent registered public accounting firm's communications with the audit committee concerning independence and has discussed with the independent registered public accounting firm their independence.

Based on the reviews and discussions referred to above, the audit committee recommended to the board of directors that the audited consolidated financial statements of Intellia be included in Intellia's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, that was filed with the SEC.

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF INTELLIA THERAPEUTICS, INC. Caroline Dorsa, Chairperson Jean-François Formela, M.D. Georgia Keresty, Ph.D., M.P.H. Frank Verwiel, M.D.

May 2, 2022

HOUSEHOLDING

Some banks, brokers and other nominee record holders may be participating in the practice of "householding" proxy statements and annual reports. This means that only one copy of our documents, including the Notice and, if applicable, the 2021 Annual Report and proxy statement, may have been sent to multiple stockholders in your household. We will promptly deliver a separate copy of either document to you upon written request to Intellia Therapeutics, Inc., 40 Erie Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139, Attention: Investor Relations / Corporate Secretary or by emailing IRcontact@intelliatx.com. If you want to receive separate copies of the proxy statement or annual report to stockholders in the future, or if you are receiving multiple copies and would like to receive only one copy per household, you should contact your bank, broker or other nominee record holder, or you may contact us at the above address and phone number.

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

A stockholder who would like to have a proposal considered for inclusion in our 2023 proxy statement must submit the proposal in accordance with the procedures outlined in Rule 14a-8 of the Exchange Act so that it is received by us no later than January 3, 2023. However, if the date of the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is changed by more than 30 days from the anniversary date of the previous year's meeting, then the deadline is a reasonable time before we begin to print and send our proxy statement for the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. SEC rules set standards for eligibility and specify the types of stockholder proposals that may be excluded from a proxy statement. Stockholder proposals should be addressed to Intellia Therapeutics, Inc., 40 Erie Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139, Attention: Investor Relations / Corporate Secretary.

If a stockholder wishes to propose a nomination of persons for election to our board of directors or present a proposal at an annual meeting but does not wish to have the proposal considered for inclusion in our proxy statement and proxy card, our second amended and restated by-laws establish an advance notice procedure for such nominations and proposals. Stockholders at an annual meeting may only consider proposals or nominations specified in the notice of meeting or brought before the meeting by or at the direction of the board of directors or by a stockholder of record on the record date for the meeting, who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who has delivered timely notice in proper form to our corporate secretary of the stockholder's intention to bring such business before the meeting.

The required notice must be in writing and received by our corporate secretary at our principal executive offices not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year's annual meeting. However, in the event that the date of the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is advanced by more than 20 days, or delayed by more than 60 days, from the first anniversary of the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, a stockholder's notice must be so received no later than the close of business of the 90th day prior to the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or the tenth day following the day on which notice of the date of the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders was first made, whichever first occurs. For stockholder proposals to be brought before the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the required notice must be received by our corporate secretary at our principal executive offices no earlier than close of business on February 14, 2023 and no later than close of business on March 16, 2023. Stockholder proposals and the required notice should be addressed to Intellia Therapeutics, Inc., 40 Erie Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139, Attention: Investor Relations / Corporate Secretary.

In addition to the above, a stockholder who would like to propose a nomination of persons for election to our board of directors must submit the proposal in accordance with the procedures outlined in the nominating and corporate governance committee's charter, a current copy of which is posted on the corporate governance section of our website, http://ir.intelliatx.com/corporate-governance/documents-charters. Specifically, all nomination recommendations must include (i) the name and address of record of the stockholder; (ii) a representation that the stockholder is a record holder of Intellia's securities, or if the stockholder is not a record holder, evidence of ownership in accordance with Rule 14a-8(b)(2) of the Exchange Act; (iii) the name, age, business and residential address, educational background, current principal occupation or employment, and principal occupation or employment for the precedent five (5) full fiscal years of the proposed director candidate; (iv) a description of the qualifications and background of the proposed director candidate which addresses the minimum qualifications and other criteria for membership on our board of directors as set forth in the charter of the nominating and corporate governance committee; (v) a description of all arrangements or understandings between the stockholder and the proposed director candidate; (vi) the consent of the proposed director candidate (A) to be named in the proxy statement relating to Intellia's annual meeting of stockholders and (B) to serve as a director if elected; and (vii) any other information regarding the proposed director candidate that is required to be included in a proxy statement filed pursuant to the rules of the SEC.

To comply with the SEC's universal proxy rules (once effective), stockholders who intend to solicit proxies in support of director nominees other than the Company's nominees must provide notice that sets forth the information required by Rule 14a-19 under the Exchange Act no later than April 15, 2023.





VOTE BY INTERNET
Refore The 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "Meeting") - Go to
www.proxyvote.com or scan the QR Barcode above

When the account of scan the QR Barcode above
Use the Internet to transmit your voting instructions and for electronic delivery of
information up until 1159 p.m. Eastern Time on June 13, 2022. Have your priory
card in hand when you access the web site and follow the instructions to obtain
your records and to create an electronic voting instruction form.

During the Meeting -Go to <u>yourselvitualishaseholdermeeting.com/NTIA2022</u>
You may attend the Meeting via the Internet and vote during the Meeting.
Have the information that is printed in the box marked by the arrow available
and follow the instructions.

VOTE BY PHONE - 1-800-690-6903
Use any touch-lone telephone to transmit your voting instructions up until
11-59 p.m. Eastern Time on June 13, 2022. Have your picky card in hand when
you call and then follow the instructions.

VOTE BY MAIL
Mark, sign and date your proxy card and return it in the postage-paid
envelope we have provided or return it to Vote Processing, clo Broadridge,
S1 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, NY 11717.

				D76943-P72832 KEEP THIS			
THIS PR	OXY CA	RD IS VA	UD ON	Y WHEN SIGNED AND DATED. DETACH AND	RETUR	IN THIS PO	RTION
NTELLIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.	For All	Withhold		To withhold authority to vote for any individual nomineels), mark "For All Except" and write the			
The Board of Directors recommends you vote FOR the following nominees:	All	All	Except	nominee(s), mark. For All Except, and write the number(s) of the nominee(s) on the line below.		-	
 Election of Directors. Election of the following individuals nominated to serve as Class III directors, for a three-year term ending at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2025. 	_	0	0				ı
O1) Caroline Dorsa O2) Georgia Keresty, Ph.D., M.P.H. O3) John M. Leonard, M.D.							
The Board of Directors recommends you vote FOR the fo	ollowing	proposal:			For	Against	Absta
 Ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as Intellia's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022. 						0	0
The Board of Directors recommends you vote FOR the following proposal:						Against	Absta
3. Approve, on a non-binding advisory basis, the compensation of the named executive officers.						0	0
NOTE: Such other business as may properly come before the m	veeting or	any adjour	rnment the	reof.			
Please sign exactly as your name(s) appear(s) hereon. When administrator, of other fiduciary, please give full title as such, personally, All holders must sign. If a corporation or partnersh or partnership name by authorized officer.	Joint ow	ners should	d each sign				
Classical Philadel Colon International Control				Classic Minist Courses			

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held June 14, 2022:

The Notice, Proxy Statement and 2021 Annual Report are available at www.proxyvote.com.

D76944-P72832

INTELLIA THERAPEUTICS, INC. **Annual Meeting of Stockholders** June 14, 2022 9:00 AM, EDT This proxy is solicited by the Board of Directors

The undersigned hereby appoints John Leonard, M.D., Glenn Goddard and James Basta, J.D., as proxies, each with the power to act without the other and appoint his substitute, and hereby authorizes them to represent and to vote, as designated on the reverse side of this ballot, all of the shares of common stock of Intellia Therapeutics, Inc. that the undersigned is entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held online at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/NTLA2022 on Tuesday, June 14, 2022 at 9:00 AM, EDT and at any adjournment or postponement thereof. Receipt of the Notice of the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, Proxy Statement and 2021 Annual Report is hereby acknowledged.

This proxy, when properly executed, will be voted in the manner directed herein. If no such direction is made, this proxy will be voted in accordance with the Board of Directors' recommendations.

Continued and to be signed on reverse side